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Thursday, 19 December, 1946

INTERNAT IONAL MILITARY TRIBUNAL
FOR THE FAR EAST
Court House of the Tribunal
Var Ministry Building
Tokyo, Japan

The Tribunai met, pursuant to adjournment,

at 0930,

Appearances:

For the Tribunal, same as before with
the exceptign of: HONORABLE JUSTICE D. JARANILLA,
l'ember from the Republic of the Philippines, not
sitting.

For the Prosecution Section, sare as before.,

For the Defense Section, sare as before.
The Accused:

411 present except OKA"A , Shumel, who is

represented by his counsel.

(English to Japancse and Japanese
to English interpretation was made by the
Language Section, INTFE.)
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MARSHAL OF THE COURT: The International
Military Tribunal for the Far East is now in session.

THE PRESIDENT: Mr. Justice Mansfield.

MR, JUSTICE MANSFIELD: If the Tribunal
please, continuing with the reading of exhibit No,
1630 at page 12, the excerpt dated the 8th of
February, 1943:

"The most brutal and severe beating up
as yet. Eight Taiwan soldiers entered the Officers'
Billet arnd mede stroight for Captein A4, Sewell,
M.C.R.A. They proceceded, each in turn, to beat him
for an hour in all, and finished up with a sentry
with a rifle using the butt end and hitting him on
the head with the baycnet. The Officer concerned .
was in a very bad way when this beating was finished."

Then proceeding to the excerpt, the 18th
of February, 1943:

"Inspection of commodities in the camp.

All Taiwan soldiers appecred with sticks and beat
up all the sick men in camp. In the afternoon a
party which wes going outside to work was passing
through the camp gates when Gnr. Bilham fell out

to fasten his shoeclace. By the time he had finished
this the party had gone and the gates were closed.

10 minutes later the party returned, and the Jap




officer, in a terrible rage, sent for Gnr. Bilham,
\

who was immediately knocked senseless by Taiwan
guards, The Personnel Administrator went out to
argue with the Jap Officer re this and pointed out
that no matter what the man had done, there was no
excuse for such brutal and inhuman treatment,
Eventually, the Personnel Administrator was allowed
to take Gnr. Bilham back intc the Office and that
evening the Jap Of ficer made a half-hearted apology."

Then turning to the rext page, the excerpt
for the Sth of March, 1943:

ngeneral from Prisoners of War Information
Bureau came to the camp. No Priscner was allowed
to speak to him."

Prosecution document numbered 5170B, the
affidavit of W.0.I., J.0. EDWARDS, 1s offered for
identification.

CLERK OF THL CCURT: Prosecution's document
No. 5170-B will recceive exhibit No. 1€31 for
identification only.

(Whereupon, the document above re=
ferred to was marked prosecution's exhibit
No. 1¢31 for identification.)
MR. JUSTICE MANSFIELD: The marked excerpts

are produced in evidence.




THE PRESIDENT: Admitted on the usunl terms.

CLEFK CF THE COURT: The marked excerpts
therefrom, bearing the same document number, will
weceive exhibit No. 1€31-A.

(Whereupon. the document above re=
ferred tc was marked prosecution's exhibit
No. 1631-A and received ir evidence.,)

¥R. JUSTICE MANSFIEID: This document states
that the witness arrived at KINKASEKI Camp, where
1,200 men commenced work in the coppcr mines, The
workings were unbearably hot, and dangerously without
safeguards. Every man who worked in the mines has
gscors as a result of the conditions and accidents.
Hot acid water dripped from low roofs, holes in
the grounds were unguarded.

“Men vho failed to complete the day's task
were beater with the shaft cof hammers, three feet
long and 1% inches thick. Men were beaten into
ineensibility and kicked.

Food was inadequate as were medicines and
drugs. Eighty-seven men died at KIIK.SEKI.
In Mav, 1945, the camp moved to KOKOTSU.

Corditions here were dreadfui, food reached starvation

level, the camp had to be built by Qhe'men themselves

and food and materials brought up daily by men worn




and exhausted from long travail, over eight miles

of rough jungle track.

After the war was over on August 27, the

camp moved to TAIHOKU, No provision was made for
the sick. Weakened men had to carry the gick them-
selves on bamboo stretchers under a blazing sun.
Two men died on the journey.

Prosecution document numbered 5187, the
sworn testimony of Sergeant J. L. MASSIMINO, 1is
produced for identification.

CI¥RK OF THE COURT: Prosecution's document
5187 will receive exhibit No. 1632 for identification
only.

(Whereupon, the document above re=-
ferred to was marked prosecution's exhibit
No. 1632 for identification.)

MR. JUSTICE MANSFIEID: The marked excerpts
therein being offered in evidence.

THE PRCSIDENT: Admitted on the usual terms.

CLERK OF THE COURT: The marked excerpts
therefrom, bcaring the same document number, will
receive exhibit No. 1632-A.

(Whereupon, the document above re-
ferred to was marked prosecution's exhibit

No. 1€32-A and received in evidence.)




MR. JUSTICE MANSFIELD: This document
gtates that the witness went to HAITO Camp in
December, 1944, remaining there for two months.

Men were thrown into a water trough end
their heads held under water, under the direction
of the Camp Commandant. They ‘were then stripped
and beaten. A number O the men died of brain fever
in the camp. The Commandant assembled all the
prisoners of war one day nnd asked how many men
had the violent headaches which was the svmptom of
the brain fever, Fifty or sixty men raised thelr
hands, whereupon the Jopanese remarked that he had
a big cemetery and he would try very had to f£111 1t.
. The prisoners of war were then dismissed.

Thet completes, if the Tribunal please,
the evidence with regard to Formosa.

I present to the Tribunal at this stage
Lieutenant Colonel Mornane of Australia who will
continue to conduct the prosecution's case.

THE PRESIDENT: Colonel Mornane.

LIEUT, COLONEL MORNANE: If the Tribunal
pleases, I tender prosecution document 5448, which
is a synopsis of sea trensportation evidence,

THE PRESIDENT: Admitted on the usual terms.

CLFRK CF THE COURT: Prosecution's document ‘H}3f




No. 5448 will receive evhibit No. 1€33.
(Whereupon, the document above re=
ferred to was mnrked prosecution's exhibit

No. 1633 and received in evidence.)

LIEUT. COLONEL MORNANE: I now propose to
{introduce evidence in suprort of the seventh section
of this phase, This section relates to, treatment
of prisongrs of war and civilian internees by the
Japanece in the course of transportation by sea.
This evidence consists of twenty affidavits., 1
also refer the Tribunal to evidence already given
wv various witnesses, and the evidence that will be
given by subsequent witnesses in other sections of
this rhase insofar as it relates to such treatment.

I tender for identification I.P.S. document
No. 5232, This is an affidavit made jointly by
Serceant Raymond C. Richardson and Technical Sergeant
John G. Murdach both of the United States Army Air
Corps.

THE PRESIDENT: Admitted on the usual terms.

CLERK CF THF CCURT: That is presented for
identification?

LILUT. COLONEL MORNANE: Yes.

CLERK OF THE COURT: Prosecution's document
No. %232 will receive exhibit No. 1634 for .

4.‘
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identification only.
(Whereupcn, the document above Te=
ferred to was marked prosecution's exhibit
No. 1€34 for identificetion.)

THE PRESIDENT: The excerpt 1is admitted.

LIBUT. CCLONEL HORNASE: 1 offer in evi-
dence those parts of the affidavit which have been
trarslated. They &re indicated on the lgft-hand
margin of the document.

CLERK C¥ THE CCURT: The excerpts there=
from, benring the same document number, will recelve
exhibit No. 1€34-A.

(Whereupon. the document above re-
ferred to wars marked prosecution's exhibit
No. 1€34=-A and received in evidence.)

LIEUT. CCT ONEL MORNANE: The affidavit
shows that on ond of October, 1942, about nineteen
hundred American prisoners of war were forced into
two large holds ard one small hold of the Tottori
Maru at Manila, They were sC tightly packed that
only three-quarters o° the nrisoners conld lie

dowr at once. The ventilation was absolutely in-

adequate. SIiX latrines only Were allotted for the

use of nireteen hurdred men most of whom were suffer-

ing from dysenterv. The daily ration was siX soda




erackers and a canteer of water., After eight days

the ship recched Fromosa where a number of Jopanese

tyroops disemborked. As a result the prisoners had

wore room but were still overcrowded; and three more
1atrinces were made available. The ration was in-
ercased by a dish of rice per man per day. No
medical supplies or facilities were made available
throughout the journey which ended at Osaka on

11 Fovember 1942, Fifteen prisoners of war died

as a result of the conditions on the ship and the

1aek cf medical supplies.




I now offer IPS Cocument No. 5234 for
identification and excerpts marked therein in evi-
dence. This is an affidavit made by Captain Edward
.. Nell, an American medical officer.

The PhuSILENT: Admitted on the usual terms.

CLERK OF THE COURT: ~Prosecution's document
o, 5234 will receive exhibit Jo. 1635 for identifi-
cation only, and the marked excerpt therefrom bearing
the same document number will receive exhibit No. 1635-A

(hereupon, prosecution's document
No. 95234 was marked nrosecution's exhibit No.
1635 for identification, the excerpts therefrom
being marked prosecution's sxhibit lio. 1635-A
and received in evidence.)

LI.Ul's LOLOWuL lihnANE: I propose to reac
thie document from the foot of the first page:

won 7 Nov. 1942 I sailed from Pier 7, Manila,
with 1650 POW and 1500 to 2000 Japancse soldiers.
We were on Nagato Maru, a Japanese freighter of
aporoximately 4 or 5000 tons., The POW were on the
bottom deck of each of the 3 holds. We were extremely
crowded, most had stending room only. The Jap sol-

diers occupied the upper decks in each hold. The

Americans were not allowed on deck for two days after

we sailed. The air was foul, many lost consciousness.




We had one canteen cup of water per day per man,

The morning meal was about 200 grams of rice and a

soup of fermented bean paste. The evening meal was

about the same amount of rice and a small quantity of
fish, about 20 grams. We reccived no medicine for

the sick at all. liost men who werc¢ ill were suf-

fering from illness caused by ceficient dict, dia-
rrhea, beri-beri, protein cdema &nd malaria. Be-
ginning about 9 Hov. approximately 40 men from cach
hold were allowed on deck for periods of an hour.
There werc latrines on qgck but the men with bowel
disorder oftcn werc unabl: to get to the deck. For
3 days there was no sanitary fecilitics below decks
but then we stolc some buckets which we werc able to
empty. Therc was some mistrcatment of FOW in the after
hold as kicking an. beating men when the Japs werc
going after supplics that were stored there,
"Beginning Nov. 9 they allowecd me to bring the

severcvly sick on deck to an imprcoviscd sick bay. 1
repeatedly requested medicine from Lt. MURATA and

Sgt. HOSHINO, Both Jap Army mediccl men. I don't
know their first namcs. Thoy never supplied any
medicine., These two Japs had no outstanding

characteristics. I'm not surc I could identify them

now. On about 12 Nov. the convoy we werc in was fired
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on by a submarine. Our ship wos not hit. Thcre were

no distinguishing markings on our ship.

"The extreme physical discomfort of the men

causcd a complecte breakdown of morale, they snarled
at coch other, quarreled and insulted officers for

no reason. Hunger was so extreme thet thcy asked

for the left overs of the Japanese meals. We arrived
at Moji 25 Nov. 1942.

"The following men died at sca as a result of
the combination of factors prevalent on the ship.
A1l were able bodied men when we got on the ship.

"Wood, William k., 1st Lt. 24th A, Diled
11/7/42. Born 6/3/15. Causc of decath beri-beri
myocarditis. wbanca, hichard R., 2nd Lt. 192nd Tank
Battalion., Fhe wes born 10/23/16. Ceuse of death
starvation and generalized sepsis ==

THE PRESIDENT: 1t isn't nccessary to
read those names.

LIEUT. COLONEL MORNANE: Altogether, eight
mer. died, two from starvetion and gcneralized scpsis;
two Irom chronic diarrhca; two from chronic diarrhea
and pellegraj; onc from beri-beri myocarditis, and one

from chronic starvation and chronic diarrhea. (keading) 4




|
‘ "When we errdved at lodi the tomporatupre was

:; about 45 degrecs B with a high wind, Ve wers made to
5 | 1ine up naked on dock before 2ll the People on the
;‘ dock while the Japanesa took a Specimen from each
s | feetum, [his ¢Xposurc to publie Bazes was unvarranted,
6| “l a medienl officer anc the diagnosis of the
7[ 1llness ang causes of death are correct to the best
- 8| of my knowledge without benefit of clinical op
0 laboratory assistance,"
10[ I now offer 1ps document No, 5:07 for
1| daentification and tender the marked excerpts thereof
121 in cvidence,
.15 THE PKESILENT; Admitted on the ususl terms,
14 CLEKK OF THE COURT: Prosccutionts document
51 No. 5307 Will be exhibit Ko. 1636, The marked excerpt
beoring the some document number will receive exhibit
24 No, 1636-a.
¥ (Whoreupon, prosccution's document
No. 5307 was marked Prosecution's qxhibit No,

1636 for ldentification, the éxcerpt therefrom
being marked Prosccution's exhibit lio, 1636-A

19
20
21

22
and received in evidence, )

LIEUT, COLONEL LOKNANE: This is an af-
fidavit made by Technicanl Sergeant Clyde P, Sullivan

23
24

25

I of the U.S.Army. I will now reaq marked excerpts of




this document:

"I em T/Sgt. Ny permanent home address is
5403 Morida Avcnue, Tampa, Florida., I was captured
by Japanesc infantry on Mindanao Island, P.I,, in a
general surrender on 10 licy 1942, After being con-
fined in the Philippine Islands until July 1944,
when I w;s trensferred by ship to Japan in a trip
which 1zsted until 3 Sceptember 1944,

"The prisoners of War were not provided with
nroper medical care, food or quarters in this ship
during the trip.

"Approximately 1200 prisoners, divided into 600
men for each hold, were crowded into the ship so
closcly that 400 would heve to stand in shifts so
that the other‘zoo could sleep., This condition
lasted for over 20 deys until we reached Cebu. IThe
sanitary facilitics werc insufficient and consisted
only of a bucket holding 5 gallons for 600 men. The
only medical sunplies available were those which one
of our own doctors brought with him, anéd these were
meeager snd insufficient, because the men were suf-
fering from sores, beri-beri, malaria, malnutrition
ulcers, diarrhea, and many other diseases. The food
available congisted only of 400 grams of rice per

day per man, which wes about one pint, after it had
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been Cooked,

All the men lost from 20 to 40 pounds
! during the trip
2

* V€ Were wei

ghed at the beginning
' tnd end of the trip and 1
3 |

y Iyself, lost 33 pounds,
4

Colonel Stubbs, were ignored,n
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been cooked. All the men lost from 20 to 40 pounds.

during the trip. Ve were weighed at the beginning
¢nd end of the trip and I, nyself, lost 33 pounds.
The air was foul and the heat while confined in the
nold was so intcnse thet men were overcome. Three
men died from the existing conditions during the
trip. We received one pint of weter por day, which
wes insufficient because of the heat and close con=
finement. crotests made by the ranking officer,
Colonel Stubbs, were ignored."

THE PLESIDENT: Well, you are no longer
reeding a synopsis. You ore rcading excerpts from
the affidavit. Synopsis is 2 misnomer in the case
of exhibit No. 1633.

LIEUT. COLONEL LIOLNANE: Iy next document,
an afficdavit made by kaster Sergeant Arthur li.
Baclevski of the U.S.Army, i IPS document No. 5194.
I tender this document for jdentification, and tender
the maerked excerpts of the document in evidence.

THE PRESIDENT: Admitted on the usual terms.

CLERK OF THE COUnT: Prosecution's docuﬁent
o. 5194 will receive exhibit No. 1637 for identifi-
cation only, and the merked excerpp therefrom bearing
the same document number will receive exhibit No.

163?"'A.




(Whereupon, prosccution's document
No. 5194 was marked prosecution's exhibit lo.
1637 for identification, the excerpt therefrom
being merked prosecution's exhibit No. 1637-A
end rcceived in evidence.)

THE PRESIDLNT: There is no resson that we
can sce for departing from the practice of ycsterday
and the preccding deys. This materiel is no more
important than the materiel that wes made the subject
of & genuine synopsis or synopses. The new nethod
involvas & grest expenditure in time.

LILUT. COLONEL LORWANE: Ixr. President, I
may say that therc are only twenty effidavits cnd
the material in most of them is so well cxpressed
that it would be very hard to shorten it and to
place before --

THe PLESILENT: That is not & saotisfoctory
cxplanation, bccause you are going into a lot of
details we don't went to hear. However, go chead
until you finish the twenty effidavits.

LIEUT. COLONEL MOhMANE: (keading):

"I wes coptured on Bataon, rhilipoinc Islands,

8 April, 1942, while serving in the Weather Section

of hLeadquartcers Battery, 200th Coast Artillery. Iy
duties included surveying and drefting. I was held




our trip from Philippine

traveled in a hold aboard a sme 1l e

very old and ha¢ been rsconditioned. Seven Hlted.
‘_3'1; s,
American prison-rs, including myself, were loadcd
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(Whereupon, prosecution's document

No. 5194 was marked prosecution's exhibit No.

1637 for identification, the excerpt therefrom

being merked prosecution's exhibit No. 1637-A
«nd received in -evidence.)

THE PRESIDLNT: There is no reeson that we
c=n see for departing from the practice of ycsterday
and the preccding deys. This material is no more
important than the materiel that wes made the subject
of & genuine synopsis or synopses. The new nethod
involvas a greot expenditure in time,

LINUT. COLONEL LOKWANE: Ir. President, I
may say that therc are only twenty effidavits and
the materiasl in most of them is so well expressed
that it would be very hard to shortcn it and to
place before =-

THE PHESILsNT: That is not a satisfoctory
zxplanation, bccause you are going into a lot of
details we don't went to hear. However, go chead
until you finish the twenty affidavits.

LIEUT. COLONEL MOrANE: (heading):

"I wes captured on Bataan, Phillppinc Islands,
8 April, 1942, while serving in the Weather Section
of headquarters Battery, 200th Coast Artillery. iy

duties included surveying and drefting. 1 wes held




in ecustody s a prisoncr of wer by tho Imperial
Jupanesc Goveinment from 8 April, 1942, to 11 Sept-
omber, 1945, et the following pleces: Camp 0'Lonnell,
Philiopine Islands from 2 June, 1942, to 21 Sept-
cmber, 1943; Los Penos, Philippine Islands, 21
Scptember, 1943, to 30 Scptember, 1944, From 1
October, 1944, to 8 November, 1944, I was enroute

by boat from l.anilo, Philippine Islends, to Camp
ngin (phometic} to Taivan (Formosa). | left Taiwan
on 12 January, 1945, sboerd the lielbourne liaru and
arrived ot Kozeka in the Sendel arce, Jopan, on 27
Jonuery, 1945. I wcs held in Kozeke until ny libera=
tion 11 Scptember, 1945, 1 waus ¢ppointed squad
leader by the Japanese ot Fozake and held this

position for five months.

WThe only tvwo Japéncse in my places of im=-
prisonment whose nomes 1 can now recall were Supply
Scrgeant OSANI (phonetie.:) who wes nicknamed the
1Skull' and Corporal KUhADA, o Japanesc mcdical
corpsman, Both of thes: mon were stationed at lozake.

nit ie difficult to describe the conditions on
our trip from Philippine 1slands to Taiwan. Ve
traveled in a hold aboard a smell ccllier vhich was
vory old and hac been rezconditioned. Seven hundred

Amerpican prison<rs, including myself, were loaccd

—— e —
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into the hold of the ship which wos . pproximately

40 or 45 feet long, 30 to 35 feet wide and ap=-
proximately 30 fect decp. Coal to a depth of 10

feet covered the entire floor of the hold. About 400

other american prisoners were loaded in the aft hold

of the ship which was located immediately behind the

ship's engine room. The heat in the hold was almost

unbearable and I wes told thet the aft hold weas cven

hotter . There was not room e¢ncugh in our hold to

lie down, The hold probobly should have accommodate
about 250 men. Thirty-two Ameriecan prisoners in our
hold died from suffocation and heai exhaustion during
the thirty day trip. Many of the men were out of
their heeds due to the intense heat., <YThc hold was

covered with wooden planking with about two inches
spacing betwcen the planks, 2nd, curing eir raids,
canvas covers were pulled across thesc nlanks com-
pletely shutting out the air. After about six days,
the Japanese laccd cables into ond around the planking
covering the hold which would heve made escape im-

possible in the event the ship wes sunk. There were no
lights of any kind in the hold. We were told by the

Japanese at the start of the trip that vc would re=-
ceive one U.S.Army canteen cup of water per man per day.

However, we only received this emount oa four or five




occasions when we touched that many ports.




—— _— —

"I received about two-thirds of ¢ cup per
day. However, on sone days we were completely without
weter. Ve reeseived two meals per day normally. How=
ever, between the weather end air raids, they often
cut this to one meal. The Jepanese tried te make up
for this cut in our retion on the following days but
this was never completely accomplished. Aceording to
the notes of the trip which I keot, on 13 October, 1044,
we received 3/4 of a cup of cooked rice in the morning
end 3/4 of & cup of pooked rice mixed with seaweed
for our second meal on thet dey. On 20 October 1044,
when our boat wes in the port of Hong Kong, 1 received
1/3 canteen cup of stewed greens and one canteen cup
of steamed rice in the morning and in the afternoon

1 received ebout 2/3 of & cup of steamed rice. On some

days we received less then these smounts. The foed

was prevered by the Americen rrisoners and lowered to
the hold in wooden buckets attached to roves.
nThere were no latrine facilities in the

held a2nd buckets and cans were lewered on ropes for the
men to relieve themselves and then pulled back to the
deck znd disposed of, It wes necessary for many of the
men to dig holes in the coal to use @as toilets. As @
result of this,.the floor was continually filthy and
dirty. Ald of the men hed sevew ceses of dilarrhea at




sometime during the trin. I wes allowed on deck
three or four times for fifteen minute periods during
the entire trin, I believe thet 211 the Americens
menaged to get on deck cbout thit number of times.

"There -were some Americen Red Cross medical
supplies on boord the ship. Hovever the suvolies were
soon exhocusted, At the strrt of the trip, our officers
secured vitemin teblets from the Red Cross pesrcels
end pcssed these out rt the rete of two teblets per
men per day end the supnly wrs exhausted by the end
of fifteen days. MHedicel Facilities on the boat were
practicaelly nil end inecluded smoll cmounts of sulfa
thicsole, The physicel conditions of the Lmericrns
et the beginning of the trip were recsoncbly good but
et the end of the trip 211 prisoners were in voor shcpe.,
The Jepanese commender ot our destinction remerked thet
ours wes the worst group of prisoners nhyvsically thct
he had ever hcndled., I lost epporoximctely twenty
pounds during the trip."
Prosecution document 5193 is the sworn record

of the interrogrtion of First Lieutencnt Harold Whitcomb

of the United States Army. I tender the document for

identification.
CLLRK (F THE COURT: Prosecution's document
No. 5193 will receive exhibit No, 1638 for




identificetion only.

(Vhereupon, the document cbove refcrred
to wes merked rrosecution's exhibit No. 1638 for
identification.)

LITUT. COLONEL MORNANE: And the morked
excerpts in evidence.

THE PR:SIDEUT: 2Admitted on the usual terms.

CLIYRK OF THE COURT: The merked excerpts there-

from, beering the seme documcnt number, will recelve
exhibit No. 1638A.
(¥hereuron, the document tbove referred
to wos merked prosecution's exhibit No., 16384
end received in evidence.)

LIEUT. COLONEL MORNAKE: The cffient was
ccptured by the Japanese ¢t Botarn in April, 1942,

I now provosc to recd from the excernts, beginning
&t the second question on page 2 of the Fnglish
version. I will omit: some of the questions:

11687 men, 1l Americzns who hcd been gathered
at Bilibid Prison Hospiteal ot Hnﬁilm, boarded the
Jepanese trensrort, Irioko Meru, 2t Menile, Fier 7,
on 12 December 1944, 'e were piled into two holds
end we were so crowded thct we were not ell oble to

1ie down at the scme time. If one set down, another

hed to stend up. The 3apnnese gent us & tecbucket

Eial hah .
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of water for 700 men, There were oniy two buckets bd
three doys ¢nd each bucket conteined onl? tbout six
gellons of water. There were no sanitrtion fecilities,
not even buckets, ~nd we were not permitted to go on
deck even for scnitotion perroses. The only ones who
werc permitted to go on deck were those who went for
food. The sir wrs nerticulerly foul rnd between
December 12th £nd December 14th, severcl hundred men
died of suffocection or lack of wrter. “e kept yelling
for woter znd eir, There wes & Jepancse gucrc ¢t the
top of the ladder ind he wonld not even listen to us.
There is no cecurcte account of how meny died because
we were bombed 1l4th Deccmber end on the morning of the
15th, and cbendoned the boct thet dey.

"Je were bombed on the l4th cnd the bort went
cground. "€ were bombed fgein on the 15th. The
Jepenése took off then ond leter we took off. Approx-
imetely 1200 of the originel group were cble to get
cshore.

nje were on the Islend of Luzon st Elongono.
e 1200 werc kept in ¢n enclosed tennis court. There
were no letrine feeilitles. e were fed four times
during the scven days. Fach time we received only one

¢nd one-half spoonfuls of uncooked rice ond we hezd no

faqilities with which to cook it. e were given some
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e¢lathing. We hod to remzin ot the mocedem tennis court
211 dey &nd ¢11 night, stzrk nrked. Meny of us suffer-
ed from cold. During this seven-dcy period, 100
imericon military persornel died from exnosure,
dysentery and starvotion. The Jopanesc gathered thelr
bodies once ¢ day."
There is & parcgraph referring to the names
of Janancse personncl which I do not prorose to recd,
mye were then token to Son Ferncndo, ;
Philippine Islends, where we were kept in on old shen=
doned thecter for threae dcys., We were then lozded on
¢ reilrocd ccr. One hundred of us werc erowdcd inte ¢©
box car. Those cors were the smell Furopecn 3ize.
The Jcpanese placed some of our prrsonncl on tor of
the ccrs so the bombers wonldnt't hit them, These men
were given pillow ccses /nd white flags for signcling.
e were teken off the trcin ot Lingulen on the

Islend af Luzon. Ve spent pert of the dcy in the

school yerd where wc Were ~iven no s-nitztion facil-

jties. Ve werc then marched to thce beach where We
reme ined two dcys ¢nd one night. We were on the scnej
hed no shcde; elmost no weter and thet which we did
heve wes mecsured by the spoonful., Two officers, in-
cluding one colonel, cnd 2lso one cenlisted men died

from €xXposurec. Incidentrlly, wWe WETE in feer of our




1ives bcecuse under the sand of the beach hed been
buried gesoline znd cmmunition.

"We werc put on & horse tr:nsnort. Thcre were
two holds rnd I wts in the second onc. I wes grouncd
among horse rcmeins, f1ics cnd corruntion. Agein,
woter wes me: surcd by the spoonfvl. We were surnoscd
to heve heen fed two times o doy put often we were only
fed once ¢ dny. Our food gencrslly consisted of three
toblespoenfuls of hot woter soup snd the scme amount
of cookcd rice, two times a2 dey. Meny of the men died
either from cccumuleted weeknosses from former €xXper=

icneces, dysentery or melarie, The cdead would cversge

25 ¢ dey meiniy from st: rvertion, dysentery or 1nfeé-

tion. Wc were so starved that we rte flics £nd some
men e¢ven pickcd grrin that wos on the floor with the
horse remeins, “e were crezed with hungcr.' On the
2nd or 3rd of Jrnuery, we werc torvedoed twice. The
rudder ond propeller of the boat were dzmeged but
there were no crsuclties. e were on this horse trans-
port cbout thirteen days 11 told cnd on Jrnuary 9th
" 4n Teccw Horbor, Formosa, we were hit by e Nevy Bomb
Divcer.

“Lt. Col. Olscn mrde meny cfforts ot the
risk of his own pcrsoncl sefety to improve our lot.

Lt. iurets and Mr, Vade would not do enything cnd




would not listen. g

"Q What happencd on Jonucry 9th?

"A We were hit by severcl bombs 2long the water
1linc ~nd three of the bombs cxploded in the forward
hold whcre 600 to 700 men werc lined up in squeds welit-
ing'for brenkfast., At thct time, we had onc G.I. cup
of ter for 24 men. These three bombs killed cobout
500 of the 700 mcn quartered there cnd ¢bout 27°C in
the efterhold were wounded. We had ©ll been in & week=
ened condition beeause we were revaged by stervetion,
exposurc ond zero westher. The holds were uncovered
and we had no blenkets. Most of us hod no clothing.
Yc hed cbsolutecly no medicel ettention cnd ¢s we
necred Formosc, wc hrd food but oncc & dcy, no water
end we scroped the floor covercd with horse remcins
for snow thet filtcred down through the hold. At the
time we werc bombed, opproximetcly 40 men & dey were
dving from stervation cnd privation.

"Phose of us who survived were transferrcd
to r smell inter-islcend steamer end moved to Japéng
The death rete was high but I om unrble to estimete
1t. We srrived ct iloji on the islend of Kyushu cp=
proximetcly Janucry 28th or 29th., ifeny of the men

were besten by gucrds when they cttempted to screpc

snew off the conves to get nceded liquids. Condltiens
: ks




agein were voor, Approximetcly 225 of the originel

1667 disemborked et Moji ond 105 of that group were

sick rnd woundcd rnd were token to ¢ hospitel., At this
time Lt. NURATA cnd Mr, WADA left the group.

"This hosnitel wes & bere shed., There were
no doctors and wc hed to ley on the floor, We did
not h:ve nny mediecrl 2id for scveral days cnd we re-
ceived only ¢ smell quantity of food, ''¢ were fed
twice & dcy but thet was meinly thin rice grucl, Ve
remeincd here until February 20th. The desth rote
ot this time wes very high ¢né we hed cbout 10 to 17
decd 2 day cnd on Fecbrusry 20th rll thet remeined of
the 105 werc 27 men,"

THE PRLSIDENT: You cre-wcll worrcnted in |
recoding extecnsively from thet affidevit.

LIFUT. COLONEL MORNANE: IPS document No.
5216 1is the sworn intcrrogetidn of Corvorsl S. L.
Beker of the United Strtes !Morine Corps. I tender the
origincl for identificction ond the merked cxcerpts
thereof in cvidencc.

THE PRESIDENT: Admitted on the usucl terms.

CLERK OF THE CCURT: Prosecution's document
No. 5216 will rceeive exhibit No. 1639 for identifi-
ection only, #nd the merked cxcerpts therefrom, becr=

ing the seme document number, will receive exhibit




No. 16394.
(Whcreupon, proscecution's document
No. 5216 wrs merked prosccution's cxhibit No.
1639 for identificction, thc exccrpts therefrom
being markcd prosecution's exhibit No. 1639A
rnd received in evidence.)

LIEUT. COLONEL MORNANE: Corporcl Bcker wes
ccptured by the Jeronese on Veke Island on the 23rd
of Decembery, 1941, I will now recd from the lest
cnswer on pege 2 of the Fnglish version to the end of
thet cnswers

"About 6 Jrnuary 1942, the Jepencse londed .
eporoximoately 1300 prisoncrs of wecr cbocrd the Nitte
Moru ct Voke Island. There were rporoximetely three
hundrcd scrvicec men ond cbout one thouscnd civilicns
in this group. As we borrdcd the ship coch prisoner
was forced to run ¢ geuntlet in which hc wes becten
tnd kicked by the ship's crew. The prisoncrs were
plecced in thrce separcte holds, which werc spaccd one
tbove the other, cnd I was pleced in the first hold
heoerest the deck. To my knowledge no onc was killcd
during the period we boerded this ship £nd were put in
the hold, but thecre were o few who were very weckened

es © result of running the gountlet when boerding the

ship. The hold wrs very crowded cnd there wes not

TR S ey e
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sufficicnt room for cach men to streteh out ithout
partly lying on top of ¢nother orisoncr., '¢ remained
in these holds for the entirc trip which lested approx-
imctely scventcen deys. Ten prisencrs werce c1llowed

on deck when this shio recched Yokohomz ¢nd I wes

told thot their picture wes trken for propagende pur-
poscs ¢t this timc. Therc were no lotrines for the
prisoners end thé only mcrns of relicving ourselves

wes by using ¢ bucket lowered from the deck. The

hold wcs dirty :¢nd we werc not furnished snything with

which to elesn it. £ number of the prisoncrs were 111
snd suffering from dysen*cry cnd dicrrhoce ond bcenuse
of their condition rnd the leek of letrine freilitics
such os described cbove, this ccused very unsanitery
conditions in the hold. Thc buckcts which the pris-
onecrs uscd in pleecc of lrtrines were not cmpticd prompt-
ly end os thc need colled for it, nd this further ag-
greveted the situstion, ©s did thc errclcss monner in
which thcse buckcts werc houled to the top deck for
cmptying, ¢t which time prrt of the contcnts of the
buckct would be snillcd in the hold. "e lost treck

of night ond dcy during this trip cnd it scemed thet
our food ceme £t irrcgulsr intcrvals, though I belicve
we were fed two or thrce times ner doy. The only

weter we received wes one smell tcecup of woter per
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meel ond ocersionrlly we would reeeive onc cup betwecen

meels.  Until we recehed Jopen the hold wes stifline
end hot rnd 211 of us werc thirsty constcntly. FEreh
mcol wes the seme tnd consisted of barley grucl ond
weter == cbout ¢ three ounce nortion. There were two
e€xceptions to this diet -- on onc occasion we reccived
in cddition to th. grucl, ¢ smoll nicec of smokecd fish
¢nd on thc sceond occasion we rcecived o smz1l -ortion
of cenned sclmon, of which = grcct deel wes contom-
incted. The portion of this sclmon which I ote wes
evidently contaminctecd because immcdictely efter coting
i1t I beerme violently 111 end during nl11 the mcrch from
the dock to the cemp ¢t "oosung, somc of my fcllow
prisoners hcd to cerry me ot intervels os I would be=-
come blind and bececome unconscious rt times. To my
knowledge there were no derths cboard the ship during
this trip, but there werc innumercble bcetings od-
ministcred to the prisoncrs by thec ship's ecrcw. There
were Japenese seilors ond Jrpancse merines cboord this
ship ond from obscrvction it would secem thet the
Jepancsc merines were detoiled to hcndle the orisoncrs
t¢berrd ship. On numerous occasions the prisoncrs

were scerched ond all their possessions such cs pens,
Jewelry rnd wetches were token from them 2nd irrespec-

tive of whether the scerch proved profitcble or not,
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the vrison.rs would still bc berten &8s ¢

11 of us not to hold out on them.,"




LIEUT. COLONEL :7ORNANE: Prosecution d ocu=~

ment No. 5215 is the sworn interrogation of l'r. J. F.
¥cDonald, an American citizen, I tender the original
for identification, and the excerpts in evidence.,

T4E PRESILENT: Admitted on the usual terms.

CLERK OF THE COURT: Prosecution's document
No. 5215 will receive exhibit No. 1640 for identifica-
tion only. The excerpts therefrom will receive exhibit
No. 1640-A.

(Whereupon, prosecution document No.

\ 5219 was marked prosecution's exhibit No. 1640
for identification, the excerpts thereform being
marked prosecution's exhibit No., 1640-A and re=-
ceived in evidence.)

{.IRUT. COLONEL 'ORNANE: This document refers
to the same voyage as that described in the immediately
preceding exhibit. The affiant states that before
embarking on the ship every prisoner was furnished
with a copy of Regulations for Prisoners, I will now
refor the Court %o paragraphs 1, 2 and 4 of such
Regulations. The first paragraph provides the death
peralty for a total of twelve offenses. The second ‘
paragraph reads as follows: "Since the boat is not
well equipped and inside being narrow, food being

scarce andxpoor,-youfll feel unsomfortable during




the short time on the boat., Those losing patience
and disordering the regulation will be heavily pun-

ished for the renson of not being able to egcort."

Regulation 4: '"Meal will be given twice
a cay, One olate only to one rrisoner. The prisoners
calleéd by the guard will give out the meal quick as
possible anc¢ honestly. The remaining orisoners will
stay in their places quietly 2nd wanit for your plate.
Those moving from their places renching for your
plate without order will be heavily punished. Same
orders will be applied in hancling rlates after meal."

"y next document is the affidavit of Leading
Air Craftsman Thomas VYilliam Adamson of Royal Air
Force. This is prosecution's document No. 5149,

I tencer it for identification, and the marked
excerpts in evidence.

THZ PRESILENT: Colonel lornane, you Gid not
read the types of offenses that incurred the punishe-
ment of death. That is most important,

T.TEUT. COLONEL 2ORNANE: I will now read
that paragraph, if it please the Tribunal. Paragraph
1: ™a, Those disobeying orders and instructions.

b. Those showing a motion of antagonism and raising
a sign of opposition, c¢. Those disorcdering the regu=-

lations by incividualism, egoism, thinking only about




yourself, rushing for your own gooés. d. Those
talking without permission anc raising loud volees,
e, Those walking and moving without orcer. f, Those
carrying unnecessary baggage in embarking. g. Those
resisting mutually. h. Those touching the boat's
raterials, wires, electric lights, tools, switches,
ete, 1. Those climbing ladder without order. J.
Those showing action of running away from the room or
boat, k. Those trying to take more meal than given
to them, 1. Those using more than two blankets,"

I ncw tender prosecution's document 5149

for idencification, and the marked excerpts in evi-

dence,
THE PRESILENT: Admitted on the usual terms,
CLERK OF THE COURT: Prosecution's document
No. 5149 will receive exhibit No, 1641 for identifica=-
tion only. The marked excerpt therefrom will receive
exhibit No, 1641-A.
(Whereupron, prosecution's document
No. 5149 was marked prosecution's exhibit
No. 1641 for identification, the excerpt
therefrom being marked prosecution's exhibit
No. 1641-A anc received in evidence,)
LIEUT. COLOI'EL OANANE: This affldavit
refers to the transportation of 200 sick British
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prisoners of wer from Ambolna to Jave in I'ay, 1944,

e

During the course of the voyage the Jap. Sergeant

e

jiajor in charge of the prisoners beat a Cornoral

%

Taylor until he fell to the deck half conscious and
then with a sword killed him by partly severing his
head from his body. The affidavit also describes
the beating of other prisoners bv this Sergeant Major,
I now procuce affidavit of Flight Licutenant
William ''s Blackwood of the Royal Lir Force. It is
I.P.S. Document No. 5151, I tender the affidavit
for ideniificetion and the rarked excerpts in evi-
céence.
THi PRESILEND: Admitted on the usual t erms.
CLERK OF THE COURT: Prosecution's cocument
No. 5151 will receive exhibit lo. 1642 for ldentifi-
cation only, and the marked excerpts therefrom will
receive exhibit No. 1642-A,
(Whereunon, prosecution's ¢ ocument
No. 5151 wos marked prosecution's exhibit
No. 1642 for identification, the excerpts
therefrom being rarked prosecution's exhibit
No. 1642-A and received in evidence.)
LIEUT. COLO/EL !ORNANE: I propose to read

this affidavit from varagraph 1.
"Tn earlv September 1944 I was in the prisoner

e e e reee———————— —— "
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of war camp at Weijami on Arbon Island, It was about
that t ime that Allied aircraft visited Ambon town and
cia terrific damage there. Shortly after that raid
the Japanese declded to move the prisoners, and on
17 September I found myself the senior British officer
in charge of a small draft of British and Dutch prison-
ers of war who were to go on board the 500 ton Cutch
ferry boat "liaron laru."

"On the mworning of embarkation it rained for
the first time for many days. ¥ party marched bare-

foot or using wooden sandals in a glutinous sea of

1iquié mud which covered the sharp coral of the road

surface, With guards harassing us to hurry, the beri-
beri crinpled being pushed and bullied, and the stretch-
er bearers being goaded into 2 shambling trot, we made
the jetty in about half an hour. There the stretchers
were laid in the mud fully exposec¢ to the pitiless rain,
although a series of hutments were at hand by the road=
side., After everyboay was sonked through a few straw
mats were produced and these were éraped over the
sicker men whose bewildered whimpers fell without
response on the ears of the guards.

nAfter nearly three hours' wait, barges were
brought alongside anc we ware ferrie. acgross the creek

to where our transport lay at anchor. When we drew

i

-
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alongsice I coulé scarcely belicve that all 500 of

us were expecte¢ to get aboard, Vhen I realized that
the holds were full anc battened down, 2nc that thev
were to travel as deck passengers, I was staggered.
First of all the baggage was dumned on the hatch
covers and an attempt was made to distribute the

fit men, walking patients, and stretcher cases in

the gangways onc narrow aeck spnces. The effect

was like 2 Loncon tube train in thz rush hour. No
level space could be founc for the stretchers, and
the sick men were subjected to acute discomfort and
an ordéeal which it was at once obvious they could not
sustain for a long sea passage. On protest the bag=-
gage was removed from the hatch covers, Settling into
this terribly cramped snace with soéden kit bags was
alrost impossible. Worse was to come. Firewood for
the cookhouse fires on Voyage was brought alongside.
Picture a small ferry boat, not more than thirty feoet
in maximur beam ané with perhaps forty-five fect from
the after bulkhead of the forecastle to just abaft

the midship as the limit of our allowed space, the

remainder of the main deck and all deck workes 2and
hoysings out of bounds, ané some indication of crowd-
ing is given, "hen the firewooc was stacked all the

deck space was full to the gunwale, and the hapless




men Graped about in a sitting or squatting position,

Two wooden boxes s1lung over the ship's slces were all
the latrine accommodation provided. Into these boxes
the palsimd men haé to darag themselves after a journey
over piles of firewoed fraught with difficulty for a
fit men, let alonc A sick one who could nob w2lk on
a tiled floor. e sailod that night,

tLuring the sleepless night many ren walked
about miserably trying to find place to lie aown
without treading on someone else, which was jmpossible.
puring the night waves shipped through 2 Sea door on
one side of the ship 7nc swept across the deck with
anch roll of the vessel, sweeping helpless stretcher
cases about like flotsam. The men took advantage of
aaylight to try anc settle themseclves A 1ittle better.
One man who hada been brought cboard very sick cied
auring the night, anc was vuricé at sea."

I will omit the next paragraph, if the'Court
please, 2n¢ go on to paragraph 6.

nplreadv weakened by fifteen months of
back-breaking vork, grievously sick from malnutrition
ané 111 treatment, the rice ¢let soon procuced 1its
inevitable effect. Beriberi broke out almost univer-
sally. The sick, 1ying on the hateh, were glven no

shade, °nd, in spite of repeated requests, no awning




of any sort was provided until about thirty men had
Gicd from thirst and exposure. The water nllowance
wns less than half a2 pint a day per man, and on sev=-
aral occasions after we renched lMakassar the dying men
on the hatch were treated to the spectacle of their
guards bathing themselves in the drums of drinking
water. Enroute to Bonthain one man, crcwling weakly
over the side into the latrine, fell overboard. The
ship put about an¢ the man wes picked up. All offi-

cers were then lined up and lashea with a rope's ond

by Kasinma, an Englishespecking Korean guard, as an

examnle for not controlling our mcn.

"Deaths were occurring daily by this time,
anc sacks full of sand werc provided by the Japnnese
to att»ch to the legs of tho corpses. Burial was only
allowed when the ship was in motion, ané any man who
éieé Guring a period at anchor before Makassar had to
be bound up in his blanket and slung to the awning of
the winch house until such time as we™ere again under
Way.

"An atmosphere of horror was belng built up on
the ship whiech ¢id not help the efforts of anyone to
stay alive, 2n¢ soon the number of dead began to in-
ecreasc. Then,one day at Rahat on the islan¢ of !'oena,

a Japanese junk came alongside with about onc hundred
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anc fifty men who had 1aft Awbon in August under the
charge of Captain Van dor Loot, one of the Harockoe
araft Dutch officers. Thesc mon hnd been shot up on
thoir ship by a Liberator, which sank them after 1t
had set their ship on fire,

"on my ship, already overcrowdeé with rapidly
sickening men, the arrival of this extra number created
undescribable confusion. Harcly n man could even sit
down properly, let alone lic down, and the new arrivals
nac left earlier than we because they were more sick.
Their condition now, after a crowded journey, poor
food, anu the added strain of being thrown into the

sea unable to fenc for themselves as they drifted away

from their burning ship, was appalling to witness.

tany of these were erippled beriberd, saveral were
raving, 2ané 21l were pitifully wenk. Somehow or other
they werc packed on board, mingling {nextricably with
the four hundred anc eighty odd that were left in my
draft. There was no shage on the deck and the gangways,
and there was only room for a few of the verv worst
cases on the hatch, All the men lay spread out on the
uncven bundles of firewood, blistering horribly in the
tropical sun. Tongues began to blacken, raw, shirtless
shoulders to bleed, and all vastige of sanity dgesorted

many. Th2 night wes £111cG with the yells anc screams
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curses of the tircd-out who tried

of the aying, the
and the perpctual hiccoughing that afflicts

to sleep,
a man about to die from beriberi,"
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commonpiace. Picking their way through the tangled

"8cenes of indescribable horror becane,

mass of huranity lying about on the narrow ship,
orderlies carried the naked, wasted bodies of the dead
to the ship's side, where unheard, except by those
present, the burial service for those who die at sea
was read before casting the body with its weight sack,
overboard. One youngster, naddened with sunstroke,
shouted the thoughts of his disordered brain for thirty
hours before he becane too weak to talk any nore,
Just before he died, he snatched a full tin that was
being used ag a bed pan, and drank the contents greedily,
thinking it was water, before he could be prevented.
"Until we reached Makassar, about the 7tﬁ
October, smoking was prohibited because the holds were
full of petrol and ammunition. At lakassar, the few
men who could work were pressed into service to unload
the ship and some of the ammunition., The remaining
boxes were levelled off, and men. werc allowed down
the holds, Although still impossible crowded this
was a slight improvement as. the men could get out of
the sun.
"After the cargo was unloaded some mangoes

were brought aboard and bought out of money fronm the

profits of the Haroekoe carip canteen. Water was taken
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aboard but the Korean in charge of the galley drew
a peneil line at the full water 1line of the open drums
threatening dire punishment to all on board in the
wav of ration cuts if the level went down at 2ll during
the night. He also kicked any man who had crawled
under leaks in the hosepipes, and were trying to collect
a few drops of the precious fluid.

"When more stores had been taken aboard we
set sail again. All were treomendously relieved, feeling
that the back of the frightful Journey had been broken.
This, however, wrs not to be. For forty days we
stnod off a small island near takassar making occasional
returns to the harbour. This was a tremendous blow
to many of the sick who had keyed themselves up for
the remaining journey and were now faced with day
after day of idleness. Dy the time we oventually
sot sail again, nearly two hundred and fifty corpses
had been thrown over the side.

Myhen the survivors from the other ship were
taken aboard, Lt. KURarHINA, &gt. MORI and KasIAlA
(the English spealing Korean) all three of whom were
at Karoekoe throughout the occupation of that camp
aboard as well. They hnad escaped in one of the ship's
boats. The Licutenant, true to his previous showing,

did absolutely nothing at all to help us. Nelther,
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I | of course, Aid his sergeant or the interpreter KAFIALA,

EEOne aceident is worthy of mention at this point.
3 |

1 mAg a sick Dutchman was dying one night,

|
|
1

hﬂ started to hiccough very loudly and at close

intervals 8gt. MORI appeared on the bridge and threatenedq

,to beat all the sick men unless the man was given an i
‘1njoction to make him sleep., This was done, but in
half an hour he was awake again, sgt, ! MORI repeated
[his threat, and another injection was given. After
“'%an hour the man woke again and stnrtod hiccoughing
11| snee more., Yelling at the top of his voice the Japanese

A sergeant insisted the man be given a third injection

Ij,or else he would come down and lay about him with a

14 stick among the stretcher cases. A third injection

15

16

)

was given, and this time the wretched sick man was
not heard again., He was dead."

T ‘wili.~nit the next paragraph and come %o
18 the 17th:
39 "At night the orderlies had a fearsome task,
tiptoeing about the crowded hatcheg carrying stool
tins and urine pots over the recumbent frames of men
so rotten with beriberi that they screamed aloud if
merely brushed gently with the foot, The orderlles
worked really hard at a thankless, heartbreaking task.

The Dutch Doctor, Captain &pringer, who had done
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magnificent work at Haroekoe, continued his tireless
efforts on the mens' behalf, sparing himself not at
all. F/Lt. Phillips, another Haroekoe doctor, also
worked splendidly doing all that was possible for the
sick. Moving about the ship was difficult enough,,
but the Korean in charge of the cookhouse, Kanioka,
forbade the use of the aft gangway athwortships after
some alleged theft of stords. This made movement very
difficult indeed especially for the lame and the
orderlies on dark moonless nights,"

And coming to the 19th paragraph:

"Crossing the straits of Makassar just north

of Barl Bari, we came down the East coast of Borneo

and eventually reached Sourabaya after sixty-eight

days at sea, Of six hundred and thirty men who had

been aboard, only three hundred and twenty-five remained
alive, and these were for the most rart feeble,
shambling wrecks, unwashed for two months and crawling
with vermin. From Sourabava we left by train for
Batavia,"

I will omit the last paragraph,
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I.P.S. document No., 5100 1s an afficdavit
made by Colonel Cherlos fubert Stringer of Royal
Arnmy ledical Corps. I offer this document for
identification snd theo marked excerpts in evidence,

THE PRESIDEINT: Admitted on the usual terms.

CLERK OF THE COURT: Prosecution's document
Ho. 5190 will receive exhibit V¥o. 1643 for identifi-
cation only and the marked excerpt therefrom will
receive exhibit No, 1643-A,

(Whereupon, the document above
referred to was marked prosecuticn’s exhinbit
Mo. 1643 for identification crly; the excerpt
therefrom being marked rrosecution’s exhibit
o, 1643-A and received in evidonca.)
LIEUT. CCLONEL MORIANE: T pronose to read
trils arfidavit fronm paregraph 2

"On 16.8.42 a larze party of all the senior
officers, frem colonel uprair*cs, Govarnors and Chief
Justices, vere moved from Changl to Singapore docks
and packed into the hold of o ship. This was a
trial pecking and even on cpanese standards we
could not get 1in. Having spent the night in this
misery the next day we were moved to another ship

and again pzcked into one hold. There did not seem

to be much difference but tkere we s*tayed. This ship,
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“he 'Tanjicng Maru,  was a coul ship end the ccal
dabris had not been removed. The centor of the
holé was pilec with our kits and round ta sides
were twe ‘iare of rough bencnlirg., We worc nacknd
on this benciing vwhers there was uvet :oom for bodies
lyirg side oy side dbut no room JSor bedding. There
“as a double row of prisoners cr thc benching
7lth feet inwerds «nf in the cimy.os of whe GVLOSLTe
prisoners. Ve werc packed as slares wave pasked 1in
the hoerors of the ‘Middie Pessage.' 2ven ther
thore was nc' room for averyene p+1d i renainasy
na¢ to ile un the kits in i acuise oF oha hotd,
There was no washing water -1 no COLRRINE autep
thovgh plein zreen toa wes weovided gt infroecucnt
inTervalis. The latrines provicded cere rouga wooden
shelters on a very narrov deck gangyey. 1haey vevre
of the trougn type and were rarc.y heeod down,
"Before leaving Changi wo wore orderes oy
the Jepunese not te¢ bring owv mecéicel stores and
assumed that cverything would be wrovided on board

ship. In snite of Shis nra 2o fiecie=2l officers

bfohiht some nedice] DL Toe L 1t was #ell we 414

S0 &5 nod & szunglie Jeug or doessing was wrovided on
the ship during the voyage no. sua 21y nospitel accom-

mocation vrovided even cidar he U urgent jplcading.
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Mje spent fourteon days in tiis Fell Ship

oy ——— —

in a tropical climate, Tho spacc provided for all

purposcs for cach two individuals was ten feet by

— e —
~

two end onz-half foot., Hoad space was four fect

to thc iron platcs of the decle above. The sun beat
on this iron during the day, made it too hot to
toueh and turncd the spzce below into an oven.
Prickly hcat rapidly devcloped snd as rapidly turncd

into boils and tropical pamphigous. There were

399 officcrs and men in t'is hold, ané the deek
spacc was 1little morce than t7o narrow gangways.

ono hunéred men fere allowed on decl at a time for
fros* air but as our sick incrcased thls change over
number as more and morc reduced as 1t bcceme a
mattor of life znd death for paticnts to zet out

of the foul atmospherc of the hold. As the diarrhca
an?é dyscntery cascs inercasced in numbers and severity
the dock conditions became foul. These unfortunate
pcople could not control themselves oring to the
urgeney and froquency of their nced and the conges-
tion in the fow latrines available. The decks were
bespattercd with human dejecta and the rorst cases
could not get up and down the narrow and stecep
wooden gangway to the hold. Trey lay day and night

on the deck or hatehr cover just outside the latrincs.
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For the rorst cases we tried to rig up improviscd
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head cover but the Japancse objccted to this.

"o enscs died on hoard ship. '"e landed
nt Takau on 31.8.42 and =ithin a week or ten days
the folloving wore dead: Attorncy Ceoncral Iowell,
Lisutenant Coloncl Kennedy, I.M.S., Captain Malker,
Licutcnants Kemlo, Dowling and Griffin, R.E. All
¢icd from dysentery thich they developed on the sca

journcy from Singaporc and for vhich they got no
medicine nor care Trom Japenecsc sources during
the voyage. On landing Mr. Fowcll and Licutenant

Coloncl Kennedy wore admitted to a Japanese rospital

practically moribund., They were put in a ward by

themsclves and given ncither medicine ror nursing.
They were literally left to die, -thich they éid in
a day or two,"

I 7111 noxt refer to IPS document MNo. 5170-A.
It is thc affidavit of Warrant OfTicer John Owen
Edwards, Royal Corps of Signals., The marked cxcerpts
have alrcady bheen admitted in cvidence as exhibit
No, 1631-A during the Formosa scction of this phasc.
That happcned this morning. I will now recad the
second paragraph of this affidavit which describes
a voyage to FTormosa.

"In October, 1942, with about 1200 men of
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the 80th Anti-Tank Regiment, N.A., 155th Micld
Rogimont, R.A., 5th Micld Regiment, R.A. and 1lth
(Incian) Divisional Signals, R.C.S8., I was put on
board the 'Enzland Meru' at Singapore Docks. We
vere supnosced to bc vhat the Japancse aslked

for. . « 'a party of not ncccssarily fit men for

1irht work.' The 'England Meru' was an old cargo

ship of 5,000 tons, built in 1905, according to

the maker's rccord platcs, It was filthy, vermin-
ous, and the hold I vas confinecd in had cvidently
been used to carry horscs or cattle before. There
was dricd cxerota on the walls and floor. Tor

three days we lay in Singaporc Harbor., I was in

a hold about thirty vards by twenty yards crammed

in w7ith 257 other men., Our food consisted of a
watery soup 'ith a fow vegetables floating on top
(about bhelf a pint) and some ricc twice per day --
morning and evening. At midday a2 small mecal of

rice only was providcd, The only drinking water was
salty, it sccmed to me like stcaomed sca water. The
thirst wes mad“ening. ‘e werc confined in the holds
anc could not get at the water tank, Latrine
facilitics were abominable, at first only four deck
latrines for 1200 mcn. This vas later increascd to

cicht, They were wooden troughs always hcaped up

T e I ———— e




with exercta and in a filthy condition and flies
abounded. Men were allowcd to the latrines only

one at a time, as diarrhea and dysentery was rife
this was shecr torture to mon thus affeceted. There
woere no washing facilities, aftor the voyage started
wo were allowed on deck for approximately one hour
per day. Threce men actually died on the journey
from the terrible conditions."

My next document is IPS document No. 5377,
an affidavit made by former Captain J. L., Hands of
2/3 Machine Gun Battalion Australian Imperial
Forces., I “ander the original for identification

and the marked cxcerpts in cvidence.
~ THE PRESIDENT: Admitted on the usual terms.
CLERK OF THE COURT: Proscecution's document
No. 5377 will reccive crhibit No. 1644 for identifi-

cation only and the excerpts therefrom exhibit No.
1644-A,
(Whereupon, the document above
referred to was marked prosccution's exhibit
No, 1644 for identification only; the ex-
coerpts therefrom being marked prosccution's
exhibit No, 1644-A and reccived in cvidence.)
THE PRESIDENT: You arc about to rcad
lengthy cxcerpts, arc you, Colonecl?
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rARSHAL OF THE COURT: T'w International
wili¢ary Tribunal for the Far East is now resumed,

THE PRESIDENT: Colonel Mornane,

LIEUT. COLONEL MORNANE: I will row
read from paragraph 2 of document 5377:

"2, There were approximately 1000
nrisoners of war embarked at Singapore on or about
the 3rd of June, 1§44, and it took about 8 or 9
hnurs'fo embark the prisoners of war, There were

about 750 Australians and about 250 Dutch., There

cretPHO D) @ mHECcTSOoOHO

were three holds in the ship and the prisoners of
war were accommodated in thesc three holds. The
centre hold had no top to it and it had been badly
damhged elther by a.boub or fire., The top con-
sisted of loose iron plates which freely let in

the rain. I myself was in the forward hold with about
300 other prisoners of war, After all the men had
embarked they were so crowded in these holds that
there was neot sufficient room for more than approxi-
mately 40 per cent to lie in a prone position at

the one time. All holds were infested with verminj
lice and bﬁgs. During the journey to Japan I
frequently visited other holds and eonditions there
were similar to eonditions in the forward hold, A

few straw mats were provided but these were !
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insufficient ond for the most part the men were
lying on the steel floor, no othor bed accommoda-
. tion whatsoever being supplied.

"3, The journey from Singapore to Japan
took 70 dcys, During the journey we called at
Marl in Bornco 2hd for approximately two 2nd a
half weclks weéu in Manila Harbour but at no time
were any of the prisoners of war allowed to disen-
bark, and they all stayed on the vessel until it
reached Japan., At night tine those who were not
able to get into o prone position had to sleep
squatting down or cven stonding, It was impdssible
for all the men to get slecp at one time owing to
the extrerely crowded way they had been herded into
._the holds and they used to toke turns of getting
sorme slevp during the night nnd sorc during the
day. On rare occasions o portion of the men were
allowed to sleep on deck, The occasions however
were very rare and regorded as a great privilege.
Permission was only granted on 10 or 12 deys of the
70-cday worage for rmen to sleep up on deck. The
prisoners of uar, however, used frequently to go
'up on their own.accord in the darkne¢ss but were
generally locaoted on decl: by the Japanese guard,
who would then administer beatings and herd them
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below agoin. '"'henever prisoners of war were dis-
covered on deck without authority from the Japanese,
the Jepenese cfter beoting the men and hierding them
below again would then eall out the prisoner. of wer
officors and adninister a scverce beating to thuen,
I myself wcs beaten 17 tines on the voyage, approxi-
netely 6 of which bentings were adninistered to ne
because sore of ny mun had been found on deck
without authority, Thu prisoner of war officers
nade no atternt at 2ll to stop the men going up on
deck., The plight of the ren in the holds was so
pitiful that it was Just beyond human feeling to
order then to stop below or to try to stop their
getting the benefit of o little fresh air.”

Passing to parcgraph 6:

"6, Living conditions were indescribable.
The licc and bugs cause grect discomfort to the
moen and there were no neans of getting rid of the

vernin., "hen it reined the najority of the men

could get shelter from the rein but a considurable

number could not. It was a very wet trip and for
the six weecks while we viere going through the
tropiecs it rcined proctically deily. "Then the
men got wet there was no way of drying their

clothes Bl
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Passing on to paragraph 9:

"9, The food on this ship was simply
shocking end was the worst of any of my experience
as a prisoner of war. The diet consisted mainly
of rice and dried fish which had gone bad, A small
quantity of green vegetables were nade available
for a few deys after calling at a port. For the
most part we werc without vegetables. The nmen
rapidly developed beri-berd, pellagra and the
usual results of nalnutrition, Their daily ration
per man would be about 500 grammes of rice. The
daily issuc of fish for the 1000 prisoners of war
was approximately 50 lbs. There was a dally
allowonce of a total of approximately 12 1lbs. of

sugar for all the prisoners of war, WYe used to

szve the sugar supply for about 5 or 6 dﬁys when

there was sufficient to give each man a spoonful
each., Drinking water wos made available in limited
quantities and there was never enough to satisfy the
thirst of the men.

"10, Punishments, both 1illegel and ex-
cessive, were a daily occurrence. Bearings were
administered particularly by the Jopanese guards
to the prisoners of war, sonetines vithout any

rcason and soretimes for coning out of the holds
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without permission, One of the main causes of
beatings was failing to salute a Japanese civilian
guard whether the prisoner of war was an officer,
NCO or not. On one occasion one officer Licutenant
Rutherford, of a Queensland Artillery Regiment, was
very badly beaten up and as a consequence had to
lie dovn for three days,

"11. There wes no RAP available for
sick prisoners of war. The prisoner of war doctor
was Captain Parker, of Sydney, ond he was allowed
a snall space on deck where he could treat men.
There was a 1little space on deck where 8 or 9 of
the worst cases were alloved to sleep. The other
sick were forced to rerain in the holds., Medical
supolies were in such smell quantities as to be
considered alnost negligible, Captain Parker made
rdpeated requests for rore nedical supplies but
without =ny result. Practically all prisoners of
war were sick throughout the voyage. Approxi-
nately 90 per cent had recurrent malaria and the
najority for the greater part of the voyage were
suffering from dysentery, beri-beri and pellagra.
Every prisoner of war was suffering fron nalnu-

trition., About 3 or 4 of the prisoncrs of war

died on the trip. Ceptain Parker estinated that
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if the voyage lasted another 2 weuvks the deaths

."'_-'1
" &

would have been very nunerous, Two of the nen
died of cardiac beri-beri 2nd one died of pellagra,
One died of cerebral malaria, My opinion was that
we arrived in Jepan only just in time to avert a
very heavy de~th roll,

"12, "e arrived a2t Moji, Japan, in
September, 1944, -nd when we orrived the condition
of the men wos pitiful, Many of them had to be
carried ashore on stretchers anéd a large number
could hardly support thenselves., They were all
scare=-crows to look ot excunt for s~me 100 or
200 who were swollen with beri-beri. Apert fronm
those who were suffering from beri-beri the men
looked 1like skeletons with skin over then."

IPS cocunent No. 5158 is an affidavit by
Captain Jomes Forbes Lawrence of the Gordon High-
landers. I tencder the original for identification
and the marked excerpts in evidence.

THE PRESITENT: Admitted ~n the usual terms,

CLERK OF THE COURT: Prosecution's document
No, 5158 will receive exhibit No, 1645 for identi-
fication crnly, ond the marked ezcerpts will receilve

exhibit No. 1645-A,

(hereupon, docurient No, 5158
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was marked prosecution's exhibit No.
1645 for identificction, and the ex-
cerpts therefrom were rerked prosecu=-
tion's exhibit No. 1645-A and received
in evidence.)
LIEUT. COLONEL MORNANE: The first four
paragraphs of this affidavit tell of the embarka-

tion of 1300 British ond Duteh prisoners of war at

Singapore on 27 June, 1944, cnd their Joﬁrney to
Menils Boy on a 7000-ton freighter, All were
thin, emaclated, half-starved and riddled with
diseases such as dysentory, pnalaria ond beri-beri.
They were almost naked, They were janned into two
holds and were S0 tightly pocleed that groups took
1t in turns to hudéle in a corner while others
lay down, The atnosphere inside the holds was
stifling. There Were jnsufficient lalvine
focilities on deck and nonc at all in the aolds.
Men too weaik to go on deel: exerctzd where they lay.

T will now read paragraphs 6, 7, & =nd 9
of the affiinvit,

tg., At the end of July the ebdy arrvived

y=w, We anchorct Apasaaly mile from the
whart- side on¢ stoyed there for € wosks, During

this tire nobody Was aliowed cii SNOYS.

—




only after dcys of agltction thot JOTANI eventually

pernitted 50 of the worst casus to be taken ashore
to the prison hospital in Manila., Of these, I
heard later, that 12 had died but so far as I know
the rercinder are still alive. The rest of us hod
to stay in the Hofuku Maru. Our mecls consisted

of watery rice twilee a day ¢nd any leavings from

the Jzpanese galleY. By this timg, after the long
voyage and due to the laeck of food and pedical
supplies men wverc beginning to die. In Manila
Bay clone 104 people died. The doctors cnd the
British officers on boarc wiere constantly going

ot the Joponese to get them to allow sore nadical
supnlies on board cven if they refused to allow
the prisoners of war off the ship. They refused,
however, However, the Arericsn cuthoritics in the
prison hospital in Monila heard of our plight and
got the Jopanese to send over to our ship 3 cases
of Bl capsules for injection. JOTANI took thicse
capsules and i1ssued them to the guards on bozrd
the ship. Each J ».ncse had o box of 250 given
to hin, They forced our nedical of ficers to give
thenm the injections. Excetly the same thing
happened when sorie piltivitonin tablets werc sent

over to us. The prisoncrs of war got none of these
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or ocny other rmedical supnlies whrt;vgr; Not

contunt with beoting us ond starving us JOTANI end
NORO and the gucrds even broke up funeral ser-
viees which was tried to hold, JOTANI hcé glven
pernission for us to hold thesc, but as soon &8
they started he ~n¢ the other Japanuse would wace
in with norlin-spikes ond cnything they could lay
their honds on.

wp, It would be irpossible to exaggerate
the cffeet of JOTANI ond NCRO on tho prisoncrs of
war on boar¢ the ship. Ty ~nd the other guirds
rulced us by fear. Thoir sovage beotings ond as-
saults on the ren vho had struggled up on declk,
their complete disregord of -1l those sick and
their general attitude =nd sndistic brutality
towards us made life on the Hofuku Maru an
absolute hell, 1t was @ nirccle to re that only
104 people died.

ng, The ship sciled fron Manila on the
o0th of September, The sane people were still on
board, thot is, Sergeant JOTANI and the others. "e
were in a convoy of 10 ships, escorted by two
cestroyers ~nd two corvettes. There were no dis=-
tinguishing signs on our ship to show that it

contained prisoncrs of war. It nust have cppeared
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fron the air or fron a subriarine a2s Jjust an ordi-
nary cargo-carrying vessel. Ve were now kept
2ufinitely below decks cnd only so rany ot a tirme
were allowed out to go to the latrines.

ng, On 21 Septerber at obout 1030 we
heard nachine-gun fire and planes overhead.
Everyboly was below ducks ot the tine., A few
seeconés loter an nerinl torpedo hit the ship for-
ward followed by another between the stern and the
bridge ond by a third directly below the bridge.
Then the Armerican plenes beguon rachine-gunning the
vessel and there was corplete chaos. The Japon=
¢se captcin and his crew nade an instont get-away
by Jjuaping overboard imvecdiately. Sergeant JFOTANO
and Scrgeant NORO ond the guards did likevise,
1eeving the prisoncrs of war to drown, The ship
broke in two cnd sank in 5 minutes. More than half
of the nrisoners of wor wWere serii-starved and half
paralyzed and had no chance. For the rest, they

were-all below decks cnd therc was no nethod of

exit and altogether not fer short of 1000 prisoners

of war went down with the vessel. I succeeded by
a miracle in finding nmyself in the sea clear of the
sinking ship. I hung on to a broken-down banboo

raft and was in the water £111 6 thot night before
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being picked up by @ lugger. There were quite a
nurber of other British prisoncrs of war who had
nlso succeeded in gscaping fron the Hofulku rieru.
our only consoletion while we were in the water wes
watehing the A-ericon plones sinking every ship

in the convoy except one. The survivors, nunber-
ing 217, were token bael to Menila on the 22
Septenbor,”

IPS cocunient lio. 5146 is the affidevit
of Captecin Saxon Geoffrey Dawes of Royal Artillery.
I tender the original for 1dentificotion and the
narked excerpts in evidence.

THE PRESIDENT: Mnitted on the usual
terrs.

CLERK OF THE COURT: Prosceution's docu-
ment No. 5146 will receive exhibit No. 1646 for
jdentification only, ond the narked e¢xcerpts there-
fron will receive exhiblt No. 1646-A.

("hereupon, Cocunent Mo, 5146

was narked prosecution's exhibit No. 1646

for identificntion, and the excerpts there-
fron were narled prosecution‘s exhibit No.
1646-A and recelved in evidence,)

LIEUT. COLONEL MORNANE: The affidavit

described a voyage on a 1000-ton fruighter from .
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of February to

Singepore to Soigon from the end

the 7th of February, 1945, Two thous-nd British

nrisoners and 300 Jovanese wore eronrieC SO

tightly that it wes elrost inpossible to rove.

The otnosphere in the holds was suffoeccting., The

najority hed dysentery onc were too weak to nove

to the latrines. The Javonese were dying at the

rate of six a doye Rntions consisted of rice and

Allied Red Cross

The Japenese ate the
g piede for the sick.

water,

rations. UNo provision wa
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5207 is my next affidavit.

IP& document No,

de by former Lieutenant Colonel Eric Ken=
T offer the original

It was ma
neth rcott of the British Army.
he marked excerpts in evi-

——— e — =
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for identification and t

—. N

dence,
THE PRESIDENT: Admitted on the usual

terms.
CLERK OF THE COURT: Prosecution's document

do. 5207 will receive exhibit No, 1647 for identifi-

cation only, and the mrked excerpts therefrom will

be given exhibit No. 16474,
(Whereupon, proseccution's document

No., 5207 was marked prosecution's exhibit

No. 1647 for identification, and the ex-

cerpts therefrom were marked proseéution's

exhibit No. 16474 and received in evidence.)
LIEUT. COLONEL MORNANE: This affidavit

states that a draft of 1800 British prisoners of war

were embarked at Batavia on a 5,000 ton ship on the

21st October, 1942, 4 large number were not in 2

fit state to travel, many vere gtretche
cn the march to the dock. The

r cases and

100 to 200 ecllapsed

prisoners were crammed down from hatchways. They

were so tightly packed that it was impossible to lie

down. Those immediately undor the hatchways were
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IPE document No. 5207 is ny next affidavit.

de by former Lieutenant Colonel Eric Ken-
T affer the original

It was ma
neth +cott of the British Army.
for identification and the marked excerpts in evi-
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dence.
THE PRESIDENT: Admitted on the usual

terms.
CLERK OF THE COURT: Progsecution's document

No. 5207 will receive exhibit No. 1647 for identifi-

cation only, and the mrked excerpts therefrom will

be given exhibit No. 1647a,
(Whereupon, prosecution's document

No., 5207 was marked prosecution's exhibit
No. 1647 for identification, and the ex=
corpts therefrom were marked prosecdution's
exhibit No. 16474 and received in evidence,)
LIEUT. COLONEL MORNANE: This affidavit

states that a draft of 1800 British priscners of war

were embarked at Batavia on a 5,000 ton ship »n the

21st October, 1942. A large nunber were not in 2

f1t state to travel, many were gtretcher cases and

100 to 200 ccllapsed cn the mareh to the dock. The

prisoners were cramned down from hatchways. They

ked that 1t was impossible to lie

were so tightly pac

down. Those immcdiately under the hatchways were
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drenched every time it rained. &#4ckness increased
and the prisoncrs forred an amergency hospital.
Neither blankets nor medical supplics were provided,
On the morning of 26 October at &ingapore
the rrisoners were disembarked and hosed down. They
were then marched to the roadside, Here they were
ordered to take down their trousers and a glass rod
was inserted in each man's anus. This was done in
full public view. On 29 October, 1,081 of these
prisoners were transhipped to another ship of 5,200
tons. The ship sailed on the following day. Condi-
tions were similar to those on the earlier voyage.

sicknerss inerrasecd, "hen the ship reached Moji on

24 November, 700 were sick, 280 being left on board

as tno sick to move., &ixty-three had died nt sea and
one had ecmmitted suicide,

IP& dncument No, 5144 is an affidavit made
by Warrant Officer Alfrrd Pritchard of the Royal Alr
Force, I tender the original for i{dentification and
the marked excerpts in evidence.

THE PRE:+IDENT: Admitted on the usual terms.

CLERK OF THE COURT: Frosecution's document
No, 5144 will receive exhibit No, 1648 and the
marked excerpt therefrom exhibit No. 16484,




(Whercupon, prosecution's document
Ne, 5144 was marked prosecution's document
No., 1648 for identification, and the excerpt
therefrom was marked prosecution's exhibit
No, 16484 and received in evidence,)
LIEUT. COLONEL IORNANE: I will now read
paragraphs one to five of this document:
"l. T was taken orisoncr of war by the
Japanese at Garoet, Java on 20 March 1942, I was
despatched with a draft of prisoners of war from
Batavia on 22 October 1942 -nd was trans-shipped sn
28 October 1942 at tingapsre to the DAI NICHI MARU,
a Japanese vessel of s e 3,400 tons, which was built
in the EITSUNOSHO shipyard, INNOSHIMA Island in 1916,
"2. There were about 1,500 British prisoners
of war aboard and the total complement, Japanese and
British, was about 4,000 men in ny estimation. These
British prisoners of war were accommodated in four

holds. I, myself, was in the bottom of No. 2 hold

which eontained 284 men, mostly R./’.F. personnel and

some R,A, I personally measured this hold and the
measurements were 60 feet wide by 40 feet long. 1In
the hold was stored a large mound of wet iron ore
clay and we had to arrange ourselves around this

sloping mound. N5 man was able to lie fully stretched




out nor cculd we'lie.flat down.

"2, The voyage lasted for some four wecks
and sickness preveiled after the first week's sailing,
We were provided with a very small quantity of wet
rice and dehydratrd potatn chips, dipped in hot
water, twice daily at 1000 hours and 1430 hours -

a ration which was totally inadequate, We each re=
ceived nnly 1/3 vint of drinking water per &ay. There
were no washing facilities of 2ny kind, "hen we em=-
barked we were clathed in shirts and shorts only.

We had no change »f clathing and no other clothing

was issued aboard the vessel, The only provision for
ventilation was the npening of the hatches on top

of the hold during fair weather, On many occasions
the hatches were closed for as long as two days at

a tire and during the last week the hatch was closed,

There was no lighting arrangement in the hold and
when the hatches weres clnsed the hold was completely

blacked nut. The hnld was nlso infested with rats.

No exrrcige was permitted on deck. The latrine
arrangenents consistrd of two boxes on deck for
Hrlds Nos. 1 and 2, which wewe reached by a vertical
ladder up the side of the hold, These latrine ar-
rangements were totally inadequate for the number of

men in these two holds. "hen men became too sick or




weak to climb the vertical ladder, they defacated
amongst the wet ore in the hold, Practically every
man suffered from some form »f enteritis of dysentery.
gome ten men died in No, 2 Held and I was personally
present at the burial of six of these at sea,

Other men died in the other three holds, but I do
not know how many, There was one army medical
nfficer aboard, but he had practically ns medicines
or eguipnent., No Japanese medical assistance was
provided. There appeured to be no medical equipment
aboard as Japanese soldiers themselves approached
the British medical officer for trratment. During
the last week of the vovage some prisoners of wor
from No., 2 Hold who were suffering fronm continuous
dinhrrea and dysentery were kept on the hatch of No.
2 Hold, but these men suffered severely from oxpo-
sure to cold as we neared Japan,.

"4, The vesscl procecded via Port Jaques,
g21gon, to Formnsa and from there to Moji, Japan,
arriving about 27 November 1942, On arrival sore
forty men from No, 2 Hold were left in the hold when
we disembarked as they were too weak to move. I do
not know wlhiat happrned to these after I left,

wj, Many men died within a month of dis~

embharkation as a direct result of the atrocious




conditions and suffering aboard this vessel., No
medical treatment was available on disembarkation at
‘™31 = nor for some two months later. Deaths then
ceased, 1,04, after we received medical treatment
and carr, The 1,500 prisoners of war aboard had all
boen srlected as fit to travel when we cmbarked at
Java and we wore all fit when trans-shipped at
Singapore,"

My next document is the smorn interrogation

of Hormeguard ¥ergeant L, Van slommestein of the

Netherland East Indian Armyv, It is prosecution docu-

ment o, 5323, I nffer the ariginal for identifi-
cation and the rarked excerpts in evidence.
THE PRESIDENT: admitted on the usual terns,
CLERK OF THE COURT: Prosccution's document
No, 5323 will receive exhibit No, 1649 for identifi-
cation only; the marked excerpts will receive exhibit
No. 16494,
(Wheroupon, trosecution's document
No, 5323 was marked prosccution's exhibit No,
1649 for 1dentiricatiog, and the excerpts
therefronm were marked prosecution's exhibit
No, 1649A and received in ecvidence,)
LIEUT.. COLONEL I{ORNANE: The affidavit
states that at the cnd of October, 1942 he was




transported by the Japanese to Batavia to Rangoon,
I will now read his answer to the 5th aquestion in the
_1ntorrogations

"Countless people werc ceramrmed in the holds,
I cannot state the exact numbers; each of us had 3/4
m2 space for himself and his luggage. This transport
took about twenty-five days ( we were in the roads
of €ingapore for three days without being permitted
to leave the ship), At Penang three or four boys
tried to escape, the two last cscapces were caughts
one of them was called 'Pronk' (probably a Naval
man), other nanmes I do nnt remember. They wore al-
most beaton to death on @ eck by the Japancse guard,
I was in the hold, so I could not witness the anens,
Evervbody was awakened, We heard the hits and kicks,
the screans and groans »f the victims, It was hor-
rible. In the morning I saw two of them; they looked
a perfect sight: their eyes and 1lips could not be
distinguished. They were tied on deck and were kept
in this position for about one week (sore food was
supplied to them, and they were permitted to go to
the toilets; to stand or walk was next to impossible

to them), 'Pronk' died as the result of the mal-

treatments in jJail at Rangoon: the other survived,

The transport was terrible, A heavy dysentery broke




transported by the Japanese to Batavia to Rangoon,
T will now read his answor to the 5th question in the
Hintnrrogation:

"Countless people werec cramrmed in the holds,
I cannot state the exact number; each of us had 3/4
ma space for himself and his luggage, This transport
took about twenty-five days ( we were 1in the roads
of Eingapors for three days without being pernitted
to leave the ship), At Penang three or four boys
tried to €scape, the two last cscapces wore caught;
one of them was called 'Ppronk! (probably a Naval
man), other names I do nnt remenber, They wore al-
most beaten to death on @ eck by the Japanose fuard,
I was in the hold, s9 I could not witness the gnens,
Evervbody was awakened, We heard the hits ang kicks,
the scéeans and groans of the victins, It was hor-
rible. In the morning I saw two of then; they looked
4 perfect sight: their eyes and 1ips could not he
distinguished, They were tied on deck and were kept
in this position for about one week (sore food was
supplied to them, and they were permitted to go to
the tollets; to stang or walk was next to impossible
to them), 'Pronk! aiea as the result of the mal-

treatments 1in Jall at Rangoon: the other survived,

The transport was terrible, 4 heavy dysentery broke




out as a result nf the bad treatment. We hardly got
any modicine, The e~xcreta of the sick who were lying
.on the hatches seeped down to where we sat eating.
Wearly every day a corpse was buried at sea, The
Duteh doctors did their utmost but were powerless
because they had no medicines, etec, One of the
doctors was, if I am not mistaken, Dr, 'Reelink-
Kamp, '"

Prosecution Aocument No, 5324 18 a statutory
declaration by Lieutenant John R, Senge of the Royal
New Zealand Airforce, I tender the nriginal for
identification aﬁd the marked excerpts in evidence.

THE PRESIDENT: admitted on the usual ternms,

CLERK OF THE COURT: Prnseculion document
No, 5324 will reccive exhibit No, 1650 for identifi-
cation only, and the marked oxcerpts will receive
exhibit No, 16504,

(Whereupsn, prosecution's document
Na., 5324 was marked prosecution's exhibit
No. 1650 for identification, and the excerpts
therefrom were marked prosccution's exhibit
No., 1650A and received in evidence,)
LIEUT, COLONEL MORNANE: The declarant states

that he and five other prisoners were taken from

fourabaya, Java to Japan about the niddle of 1944,




The voyage lasted seventeen or eighteen days. I will
now read the third paragraph »f page 2%

"That during the trip to Japan we were
kept handeuffed to the wall of the cabin except when
we were released for some nther form of ill-treat-
ment. We were confined two in a cabin, but we
were continually changed 85 that during the voyage
I had as a cabin mate each of the above-named men
at one tire cr another during the voyage, The
Disciplinary Officer in charge of us was a 'two
star' Petty Officer, and I think his number was
38368. He was a tyrical Jap in appearance, and I do
not know his name, For nn reason at all he kept
'Captain symons and nyself standing on tiptoe, tied
by our thumbs to the rosf of the cabin for a pericd
of five hours without a break, and during a rough
sea. . I was also forced to do 'on hands and feet
up and down exercises' with my hands handcuffed
clnse together, e were all forced to do this
exercise, and 1f anyone could not keep éoing or
allowed his body to touch the ground he was kicked
by the Hisciplinary Officer abovenentioned. Another
form of ill-treatment on this ship was that we were
forced to kneel on a lattice~type of seat for

periods ur to three-quarters of an hour at a time
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with our faces townrds the wall without moving.

The guards behind us would beat our bare feot

with a2 length »f rope and give us cuffs on the side
of the head, the idea being to get us to move or
fall off the seat on to the floor where we would

be ¥icked. I cannnt identify the puards who were

responsible for reting out this treatment to us,"
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My next dccument is an affidavit by Sister
Nestn Gwynath Jamos of the Australian Army Nursing
Sorviee. It is prosceution cocument No, 5376, I
offer the original for identification and the marked
excerpts in avidence.
THE PRESILENT: Admitted on tho usual terms.
CLERK OF THE G60URT: Prosecution's document
No. 5376 will reczive exhibit No, 1651 for identifi-
cation only. The marked excerpt will recelve exhibit
No. 1651-A.
(‘ihereupon, prosccution's document
No., 5376 was marked prosccution's éxhibit
No, 1651 for identification, 2nc the excerpt
thorefrom was marked prosccution's exhibit
No, 1651-A and received in evidence.)
LIEUT. COLONEL MORNANE: I will now read
paragraph 3 of this affidavit,

"In April, 1945, I was onz of 2 party of

women prisoners of war and internees who were shipned
from Mantok to Palembang in a small ship., %e had

many stretcher cases and had to earry them togathar
with our luggage cown the long pler at "intok. There
we loaded thom on to a tendsr and from = wonder to the

ship., Onc patient died on tho wharf. J: left at

one o'clock in the 2fternoon. Shortly aft>r this




another pertient died, stretcher patients nand nursing

sisters werc on acck without any protection through-
out the whole of tho trib. We were stationed in the
Musi River when darknoss.cawo on, "Wo stayed there 2ll
night without any protcction whatever and were bitten
severely by mosquitoes., (We had no warm clothes and
suffored badly from the cold. 'e started again the
next morning. The sun biazed down on us. It got spo
hot that the nursing sisters could hardly touch the
patients - they were bur:ning. The romaindor of the
sick and other passengers were carried down in the
hold wher: they were compelled to remain for the whole
voyage, Therc was no sanitation whntsoever on this
ship and 75 per ccnt of thos2 on board werc suffering
from dysentery and dierrhoea, Onc paticnt died before
we arrived at Palembang that ovening, and another died
Just afﬁer we arrived there., In spite of our
exhausted condition we had to remove all the patients
from the ship 2and put them on the train."

Proszcution document No. 5293 is an affidavit
by a Dutch civilian, Isaac Samucl Dixon. I tender the
original for icentificntion, and the marked cxcerpts
in ovidence.

TH? PRESIDENT: Admitted on thc usual terms.

CLERK OF THE COURT: Prosceution's documznt
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No. 5293 will reccive oxhibit No, 1652 for idontifi-

cation only, The markcd oxcorpt will recceive oxhibit
No. 1652-A,
("herzupon, proscecution's document
No. 5293 was markcé prosccution's oxhibit
No. 1652 for identification, and thc excerpt
tharefrom wns marked prosccution's exhibit
No. 1652-A and@ rcccivad in cvidence,)

LIEUT. COLONEL J'ORNANE: Thc affidavit
states that 1750 European prisoners of war, 600
Ambonesc prisoners of war, and 5500 Indonesian
coolies (forc2d labourcrs) were put on a 5000-ton
cargo ship on 19 Scptember 1944, for transportation
from Java to Sumatra,

I will now rencd from the beginning of the
seccond paragraph on page 2.

"Then the prisoners of war were crammed to-
gether into one of the upper holds whilst the coolies
wer: put into th: second upper hold. However, before
long 211 the prisoners of war had to be carriecd out
of the hold 2gain., The temperature in these holds was
so terribly high that it was nearly impossible to stay
in since lack of fresh 2ir caused suffocation, We then
were allowed to remain on the decks (partly). The

|
ship put to sea but let her anchor Grop about 300 reters




out of the hg;bouf; Then n British_p;isoner_;}_wnr
went rad 2nd jumped overbsard., The Japanese thought
this verv funny until the Britisher mnde for the

shore, He then was brought back on board 2nd because

of this event orders were given that all prisoners

of war shoulé be locked up in the holds. Since this

was nbsolutely impossible in » decent wny, the orisoners
of war were beaten into the hold. I Go NOT understand

how they managed to get room, but they were crammed

together standing upright, since lying'dnwn or even

sitting was impossible, Severnl prisoners of war
were severely beaten. Personnlly I was beaten with a
heavy stick over the heac 2s 2~ result of which I was
seriously injured a2nd bleeding (mecical attention was
given to re by Lr. Kuyper who was Growned later). I
lost consciousness for 2bout three hours, I do NOT
¥now the name of the Japanese who bent me,

"After the shin put out to sen at 2bout four
P we wemt back on deck again, because we could NOT
stand the situation in the holé any longer. Nothing was
done against this by the Japanese., Food was bad but
sufficient in quantity, since about half of the men
| constantly suffered from seasickness "nd did not take
their food. Lrinking water however was very short and

absolutely insufficient. Bathing and woshing was
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impossible. The decks were sn» ovarcrowded thaot those
who could NOT finé = seat, 2bout 300 nrisoners of war,
were forced to wallr constantly because the gangways
haa to be kept free.

"le were guarceé¢ bv 2 Japanese transport
commander, whose nome I Go NOT knrcw nné about 40
Jnpanese soldiers., These gunrds stnrted the seecond G-y
after the ship sniled to ¢»1ll 211 prisoners »f war one
after the other to come tn the bridge. "edcing rings
and watches were then token from us anG we were forced
to sell them at a2 fixed orice of five ven (Japanese
currency) for a ring ané ten yen for = wntch, Pro-
tests were of no use, refus~l wns 2nswerec by baatings.
In this way hundreds of us were forcea to sell our
belongings.

"On 18 September ‘44 at 5,20 p.m. (Japanese
time) the ship was hit by two torprdoces nbout 25 miles
off the west coast of Sumatr~ somewhere between Ben-
koelen nnd Padang. One of the torpedces hit her amid-
ships on the starberard side; the other one hit the
hold below rurs. As n result of this the ship was torn
open. People mere nanic-stricken, in varticular those

in the holds. There must have been lots of ¢cnsualties

in these holds. Personally I was on deck, I saw many .

prisoners of war jumping overboard ofter the first
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torpedo hit us. These men ware "1l killed by the
explosion of the second torpeco. ithin twenty minutes
our ship sank., I manage¢ to swim away from it, because
I was afraid that it would blow up when the boilers
reached the water., This howevar did NOT havpen. 1

sam the Japanese transport copmander ga2tting into 2
lifeboat together with part of our guards. !any
prisoners of war got hold of the edge of this lifebont
but instead of talking them in, one of the Japanese
chopped off their hands or split their skulls with a
huge axe.

"One victim of this sort ~f maltreatment wns
saved. His skull was split open andé showed his brains,
I saw him in Padang prison afterwosrds whers he diec,
after medicnl attention had baen given to him by cne
of the two surviving Dutch dnctrrs, Dr. Vitalis and
Lr. Waardenburg. They will be able to give full
information about this case. I do not know their
preseqﬁ address.

"Our esconrt, consisting ~f nne destroyer
ané one corvette, ¢id NOT do very ruch t~ rescue ~2nd
pick up survivors., The destroyer disappearzd nlto-
gether nfter having dropped its depth charges but came

back after some hours to land nssistances. The ceorvette

‘picked up about 400 survivors and they made stroight

e —— e e ——

—

——y -

e, Ww b

— e




1
I
(!
79
’_
I8
‘

for Emmahaven, The destroyer picked up onlv ~ very
few wenj those who were very exhnusted and became
unconscisus were thrown overbonrd 2gain by tha
Japanese as I was told 1lnter.

"All the survivors wer: taken to Padang
prison. The total appearcd to be 276 Buropann prisoners
nf war, 312 Ambonese prisoners ~f war, 2na nbout 300
Indonesian coolies, lMost of us were entirely noked,
The only clothing supplied t» us by the Japanes2 was
oné pair of thin short pants per mnn., %e were treataed
very badly. Neoked as we were, we were made to sleep
on the concrete floors of the priscn builéing with
no blankets nor mats., Hyglenlc conditions were
terrible. 'Then we cnme in this jJ21l1l all the lava-
torics were fullj thus we hnd to relieve ourselves on
the floor, The smell wns penctrnting ~nd nguseating.
Chances of contamination werc very grent. There was
only one tap in this prison from which we got our
drinking water. This meant that we hnd to stand in a
queue for hours before getting 2 chance to drink. On
the second cay this t np was turned off by the Japanese,
after which we had toc drink well water from an
extremely dirty and obviously contaminated well.

"Since most of the prisoners of war were

extremely exhausted and weak because of the physieal
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and rentel strain of the past dnys (some of the men
remained in the sea for about 57 hours) the number of
sick grew very high, Beeause of the leck of clothing,
the bnd food and the bad hyglenic circumstanees °nd
owing to the fact th-t no medicines were supplicd to
us, many prisoners of war fell seriously i1l (inflar-
mation of the lungs, sunburn) and died. Within ten
dnys forty-two of us hnd dicd."

I draw the Tribunal's attention t~ the
inconsistency iIn the matter of cdatos in that the ship
is strted to hnve laoft on 19 Septenmber and t~ have
been torpednzd on 18 Septermbor. I cannot sny which
;f these dntes 1is wrong, but thc dato has no particuler
relevanec,

My last document is an affidavit by
Licutenant Geoffrey Cadzo Hamilton, of th: Roynl Seots,.
It is prosccution Gocumcnt No, 5191. I tender the
originnl for identifiention, nnd the marked oxcorpts
in evidencc, :

THE PRESIDENT: Adritted »n the usual terms,

CLERK OF THE COURT: Prosccutirn'e document
No, 5191 will rec2ive ezaibit No. 1653 for identifica-
tion nnlys the excerpt therefrom, exhibit No. 1653-A.

(Wherouposn, prosecuticn's docurent

Noo 5191 was rarkced prosccution's exhibit




No. 1653 for identificotion, and the excerpt
therefrom was rarked prﬂsacution's exhibit

lin. 1653-A and recclved in evideneo.)

LIBUT. COLONEL MORKANE: This affid~vit

states thot 1816 prisoners nf war wor: put on the |

Lisbon laru 2t Hong Kong on 25 Sopterbor 1942. There '

wepa nlso 2000 Japanesc troops in tho ship. The

prisoners Wwere grossly svererowded and didn't have

I will now renc fror paragraph 4 to paragraph 7
of the affid-vit.
At about 0700 hours on thz 1st Octnber 1942

|
room to lic dGown in thc hold. &
l
‘.
l
|

wo werc waiting in the hold £or the morning roll cnll.
gudéenly I heardé 2 1oud oxplosion nnd the ship stopped
and the lights went out, Ul Gid not knga.iiit had
happcned but 2 fow ren who were ~ut on deek at the
tire were scnt back into th: hold and scntriocs Were
placed by the hatch to prcvent any~nc gotting out agnin. |
Nonc of thc orisoners ~f war on the ship woere hurt

by the explosion ~nd wo learnt later thnt 1t was coused
by a torpedo thot hac struck the ship in the coal

bunkers., The troops in the hold ramnincd verfectly
¢nlm and there was no panic., We haaré the forward
3-inch gun fire gsoyeral tirmes and 1 1ittle later I

hoard the sound of Japanose plancs overhcad and there




wera a nurber ~f explosions which wo took to be depth
charges. About two or three hours later requests

were made to the Japanese to allow men suffering

fror Gysentery and Giarrhosa to use the latrines on dack
or to bc supplied with receptrclas, but the Japanese
rofuscd both requests, No previsions or braakfast wns
1gsued that morning and nothing happoned for nbout
fourtcon hours. It wns some tlre after deorl that the
Japanese begnan to batten éown tne hateh, Licutennnt
Colonel Stowart of the lst liddlescx, who was the
senior British officer on board, raquested that 2t
1enst one baulk of timber bs left s tht we night

get a 1little air into tho holc, but the Japanese who

were on deck and battening dewn the holds took no
notice of this request nnd 211 the hatches werc tare-
paulined over the top and the whole lot roped aown.
There was no other renns of sxit fror the hnld 2nd
as therc was no inlet ~f air, conditions, owing to
the large nunber of men in the holds 2and the abscence of
1atrins nccormodation, boeame ropidly worsc. Somecne
managed to communicate with prisoners of war in No. 1
hcld by tapping on the bulkhcad 2nd also with No. 3
holé by word of mouth nlong some sort ~f vent, Con=-
ditions in No. 1 hold were similar t~ ours, but con-

ditions in No. 3 hold were ruch worse for it vas




making water and the prisoners had to man the pumps.
It was stated that ren wprking on the pumps soon lost
consciousness owing to tho axtrome heat and lack

of air. A n~n coulé cnly éo about six strokes at the
purp before fainting. In Neo, 2 hold where I was,
although air conditions wore sirilarly bad, we could
rennin conseious by lying flat and avoiding nny
cexerti n, No. 1 h»old roported th-t tw> man had éiad
and I belicve thnt they were diphtheris paticnts,
Licutcnant Potter, who was acting as our interoreter,
made repeated requests for air nnd water or for an
intcrview with Licuteonant WADA, nné 211 his roquests
were rcfused., The Japoneso interpreter NOMURA, when
asked for water by somcone from No. 3 hold, passed

éown 2 buckct of urine, I was teld this nfterwnrds

by one-nf the survivors frem No. 3 hold. LDuring the

night we hcard a ship come nlongside 2nd some of the
Japanese soldiers baing disormbarked to it. I believe
thrt nll the Japanese troops were taken off this time
because later I saw no Japanese cn borard the 'Lisben
Maru,! The 'Lisbon linru' was subsequently taken in

tow by another vessel and we coulé henr the rippling

of the water against the plntes nf the ship.




"On the morning of October 2nd 1942, ap~-

proximately 24 hours after tre torpedo had struck
the ship, the air in Nou 2 hold was dangerously
foul. The ship was stopped and suddenly gave a
lurch and it became evident that she wes going to
sink. As all requests to thre Japeneﬁe rad been re=-
fused for air and weter, Lieut., Col. Stewert had
authorized a small perty to try and bresk out of
the rold with a view to esking tre Japenese to give
us a crhance to swim, and mer with long cerving
knives and dirner knives had been placed near the
heter reedy to break out when Col. Stewert geve
tre wvord. On Col. Stewert's order some of the men
rushed their knives between the timber above them,
cut the ropes, slit thke canvas terpaulin and
pusred some of the timber on ore side. Trrough
tris opening Lieut. Fowell of the F.A.S5.C., Lieut.
Potter, the interpreter, and one or two others
climbed on to the deck and walked slowly towards
the bridge, asking in Japanese for an interview
with the captain., The Japanese guards opened fire
and seriously wounded Lieut. Potter (and he
subsecuently died therefrom). Tre others returned
to tre hold and reported to Lieut. Col, Stevert

‘that the ship was very low in the water and was

K Madhieil f 2, Sops




evidently about to sink. /[fter tlese men hed re-
turned to the hold the Japanece guards came up

to the opening and fired their rifles a couple of
times into the hold. Lieut., Baird received a
scratch from a ricochet and I was slightly
wounded in tre shoulder. Almost immediately the
ship peve another lurct and settled by the stern
and weater began pouring into our hold trrough

the hole in the hatch. T found out later that the
stern bhad settled on a sandbank while the bows
and a third of the ship remained sticking out of
tre water for ebout an hour,

"4s soon as the ship settledthe men sta-

tioned at the hatch cut the rornes end the cenvas

tarpeulin and forced away the balks of timber.
The remainder of the rrisoners of war were formed
into queues and climbed out of the hold in
orderly fashion. DNo. 1 and No. 3 holds broke out
at.the seme time as No. 2 hold but many of the
men in MNo., 3 hold, which.was aft, were trapped by
the water end drovned before thev could get out,
""hen we emerged on to the deck the
Japanese opened fire on us from ships which

vere standing by end they continued to fire at the

-




men after they hed plunged over tre side irto the

water. "hen I csme on deck t'ere were no Japanese
on our ship at all, but I understand trat at the
beginning when the first men came out trere were
some bhelf-dozen Japanese there. All the sur-
viving men from the verjous holds meneged to climb
ur or were hauled on to the deck and ebout half
of them haéd 1life jackets and they Jjumped over=-
boerd. About three or four miles away T saw some
islernds and towards t-ese islande a swift current
was running. Trere were sbout four Japanese ships
stending by but trece esppeered as inhospitable

as the rocky islends, for trey refused to pick up
anyone out of the water at the beginning., They
had ropes dangling over the side, but any man who
tried to climb them was kicked back into thre weter.
I struck out'for tre islands to stert with but after
about half an hour I sew that tie Japanese rolicy
had chenged &nd thet they were beginning to pick
our men up and so I turned and swam for one of the
Japanese ships. One of the Japsnese threw me a
rope end some of our men helped me up. Some of
our men managed to reach the lslends, but many
were lost on the rocky coest. There were a

number of Chinece junks and samnans about which




had come from tre islends. Trese picked up
several of our men and tre Chinese trested them
with great kindness, giving them food &and
clotkirg from their measgre supplies, and looked

after them until Japanese landing parties came

to recover them. Tre ship that picked me up was

a small patrol vessel end cerried on with its
petrol for about trree dasys, after which it put
into Shangrai, wrere thke survivors on bocrd were
lended. Trere all ;ecovereé prisoners wvere
gradually assembled on the quay side. !any of
the survivors were completely nsked and iost of
us only bed s!'orts or a stirt. ™"e all sulferad
gresatly from the celd. During the Lime I was on
the patro: vessel we were Vept on dcck under a
tarpaulin whicl. leaked bedly end fond contisted
of four rerdtuck biscuits and two small cups of
wetered milk per day with & bowl of soup on the
third dayv. Two men died during thie time 2nd
the cold znd tre exposure had & serious effazt
on our later healthr."

| I propose to reed & short part of the
remaining pesragraph.

(Reeding) "By October 5th all surviving

officers and men were assembled on the dock at




Shangrai and a roll cell wes tekeh, Altogether
970 answered treir names, thus ttere was 846
missing, but of these we later learned that some
half dozen had manasped to escape with the
assistence of the Chinese."

Tret concludes the documentary evidence
in support of this section of the phase, iLf the
Tribunal plezases.

I tender evidsrtiary document No., 5449,
which is the synopsis relsting to tre treetment
of prisoners of wer and civiliens in British
Nopth Bcrneo end Sarawak.

THE FRESTDENT: Admitted cn the uvsual
terms.,

CLEPK NI THT COURT: Prosecution’s docu-
mer.t No. 544C will receive evribit No, 1{74.

{Mrereuron, tre docurent stove
referred to wss marked procecution's ex-
hibit No. 1694 snd received in evicenzo,)

VAU, COLONEL MORNARY: Frosecuticn
document Nu. 5C0«¢ is an affidevit made by Naik
‘Chandgi Ram of 2/1%5 Punjab Fegiment, I tender
the original for identificetion and marked ex-

cerpts thereof in evidence.

THE. PRESIDENT: Admitted on the usual




terms,

CLER¥ OF TFE COURT: Prosecution's docu-
ment No. 5004 will receive exhibit No. 1655 for
identification only, and the marked éexcerpt, bear-
ing the same document number, will receive exhibit

No. 1€655-A.

(Yrereupon, prosecution's document

No. 5004 was merked prosecution's exhibit

No. 1655 for identificetion, the ercerpts

therefrom heing marked prosecution's

exhibit No. 1655-A and received in evidence.)

LIEUT. COLONEL MORNANE: The affiant was

captured near Kuching on 27 December 41, ™ith a
perty of 212 other Indians he was reld at Kuching
for two monthy Seria for & yesr and at Kuala Belat
until a2t lesst June, 1945, At Kucbing the Indians
were made to work on tre air strip. At all camps
they were badly beaten. Implements used included
rifle butte, sticks, steel rods ané boots. At
Seria and Kuala Belat tre sick were compelled to
work and if too week to do so were besten. The
fieponent hed his teeth knocked out and his collar
bone broken as a result of orne of these beatings.
Otrers were besten into unconsciousnegs and some

died as a result of being beaten. Rations




consisted of some rice and occasionally vegetables
but at Kuala Belat because of tre refusal of tre
Indiane to fight arsinst the British tre ration
was reduced to a handful of rice a day. The
deponent suffered from beriberi and malaria but
was given no medicine or medical trestment by
the Japs.

In one month 55 Indians died of stervetion
at Kuales Belat. About 13tk or 14th of June, 1945,
tre Irdians were ordered to fall in and were then
bayoneted or beheaded by tre Japanese, Affiant
escsped this by hiding in the bustes. 130 Indians

lost tkeir lives at this camp ircluding 65 killed

by the Japanese.

¥y next document is prosecution document
No. 5005. It is an affidavit mede by lahomed of
2/15 Funjab Regiment. T tender tre original for
ldentification and the marked excerpts in evidence.

TEE PRESIDENT: Admitted on the ususl
terms.

CLERK OF TFI COURT: Prosecution's docu-
ment No. 5005 will receive exribit No. 1656 for
identificetion only, end the marked ercerpt,
beering tke seme document number, will receive
exhibit No. 1656-A,




("rereupon, prosecution's docu-
ment No. 5005 wes marked prosecution's
exribit No, 1656 for identification, the
evcerpts therefrom being marked prosecu-
tion's exhibit No. 1656-A and received
in evidence.)

LIFUT. COLONEL MORNANE: This affidavit
covers similer grocund to thet covered by the
previous exhibit., 1In addition the deponent says
thet 27 prisoners died of diseszse and stervation
at Seris Camp.

Prosecution document No, 5003. is an affi-
davit mede by Nalk Partap Singh of 17 Field Comp=-
any. 1 tender the originsl for identifcation and
the merked excerpts in evidence.

THFE PRESIDENT: Admitted on the usual
terms,

CLERK OF TFF COURT: Prosecution's docu-
ment Mo. 5003 will receive erhibit No. 1657 for
idertification only, eand the merked excerpt, bear-
ing tke seme document number, will receive exribit
No. 1657-A.

("hereupon, prosecution's docu-

ment No. 5003 was marked prosecution's

exhibit No, 1657 for identificstion, the




evcerpts trerefrom being merked prosecu-
tion's exhibit No. 1€57-A and received
in evidence.)

LIEUT. COLONEL MNORNANE: The affiant
states thot he was captured at Singapore on 15th
February, 1942. Fe was taken to Lutong Camp in
Borneo in May, 1942, Frisoners were not given suf-
ficient food to setisfy their hunger; they were
not given any clothing. They were mede to work and
were beaten with sticks, stecel bars end wire pliers.
A number of Indians éied at this camp, some from
disease,

In May, 1943, with 70 other Indians he

 wes tsken to snother comp sbout 9 miles eway at
Miri. Fere the Japenese unsuccessfully endeevored
to make the Indians join the Indian Netional Army.
The Indiesns were put to work loading and unloading
ships for nine hours e day. They were beaten as
before. On one occasion the deronent couldén't
welk for a month #s a result of & beeting. Fe was
sick with dysentery, beriberi end malaria but
received no medicine other thsn a few pills.
Fon¢ was insufficient,

On 23rd June, 1945, he saw the beheaded

bodies of five Indians in a stream. Their hands




were tied bebind their baek. They hrad becn alive
a weck before,

| Prosecution duecument No. 5218-A consists
of two statements made by Japanese Sgt. Maj. SUGINO,
Tswino, formerly of Borneo P.". Internment Unit but
since eyeccuted. I tender this document for iden-
tificetion and merked excerpts in evidence.

TEE PRESIDENT: Admitted on the usual
terms.

CLFRK OF TVE COURT: Prosecution's docu-
ment No. 5218-A will receive eyhibit No. 1658 for
identification only, and the merked- eycerpt, bear-
ing the seme document number, will receive eyhibit
No. 1658-A4.

(Yhereuron, prosecution's docu~-
ment No. 5218-A wes mirked prosccution's
oxhibit No. 1658 for icentificetion, the
excerpts trerefrom being merked prosecu-
tion's exhibit No. 1658-A and ‘recedved
in evidence.)

LIEUT. COLONEL MORNANE: The documenp
shows thet SUGINO was ordered by Lt. Col. SUGA to

take a perty of 157 FEuropeen prisoners of war from

Labuan to Kuching, Fe took cherge of the perty

on 23 Jan. 45. On the way 7 Indian prisoners of




war were added to the pertv, By 8th June, 1945,
the remnents of the perty were &t Cape Lobang.
Fortyv-eight only were alive, 119 bhaving died of
beriberi £nd melaria end 1 heving been teken by
tre Fempci Tei. On 8th June, SUCINO wes told trat
g British fleet was epproeching Borneo. Tive bhours
leter Fe mercked his perty out from tre compound
vis a jungle treck to Kiam Roed, whick they rezched
at midnight. Cn the following cay anotker prisoner
died of melaria &and beriberi. Twenty of the
prisoners were healthy end tre rermeining 27 were
sick, Tifteen of the hecelthy prisorers were sent
back to bring up stores. SUGINO then burnt some
documents.

I will now reec on from the merked ex- .

cerpts sterting on pege two,

TEE PRESIDENT: Ye will adjourn until

helf past one,
("™pereupon, et 1200, a recess

wes taken.)




AFTELNOON SESSION

The Tribunal met, pursuant to recess, at
1330.

MALSEAL GF THE COUWRT: The International
Military Tribunal for the Far East is now resumed.

THE PRESILENT: <Colonel ldornane.

LIEUT. COLONEL LORNANE: 1If it please the

HoRHOo> £ mHYOCTRAHOQ

Tribunal, prior to luncheon adjournment I was Jjust

about to read from page 2, line 25, of document 5218-As

"While I was burning the documents about 100 metres
from the house I saw Capt. 'Chambers' (?) going into
the house acting in whét 1 thought was a suspicious
manner as he was looking to all sides as he walked.
Capt. 'Chambers' was amongst the party who went back
and I told NAGO, the civ. guard in charge that he
would probably try to escape in which case he was to
be killed. At 1900 hours 5 or 6 men lead by Sgt.
Ackland jumped up from where they were sitting out-
side the house and started to run away. I called
the guard to open fire on the escaping PWs. In the
confusion zome of the bullets went in the house and
caused the PWs to come out. As they came out of the

house they were shot and bayoneted by the guards.
The sick PWs tried to crawl away and they were shot




or bayoneted coming out of the house or outsjde the
house. I did not give any orders to cease fire in
order to save the sick because I was so excited that
I did not know what was happening. Those PWs who
werec not killed outright were put out of their agony
by shooting or bayoneting./ When this was over there
were 32 bodies. I then ordered three or four of the
guards to burythe PWs. 1 then heard a burst of
firing coming from about 1000 metres back along the
Riam koad. I called about 6 guards and ran in the
direction of the firing, When I arrived there 1
found that the PWs were then dcad and were being
carried to one place for burial by the guards. In
addition to the guards I saw 8 men belonging to
NISHIMURA TAI, Several men were digging two graves
that were about one foot deep when I arrived. When
the graves were dug the PWs were buried cnd the whole
work was complected by about 2030 hours. I asked NAGO
what had happecned and he told mc that the PWs had
been shot trying to escape end that 8 men of
NISKHIMURA TAI had helped to kill them. I did not

ask any further questions because I understood that

the PWs had not been trying to eseape when they werec
killed. Althcugh I gove orders before they left to

kill the PWs if they attempted to cscape I knew mysclf




thet they would be killed in any case. After the
Plis were buried at the road I returned to the'house
to supervise the burial of the others which finished
at midnight. Some personal belongings were buried

with the PWs ond the remeinder were burnt. After

galuting the dead «ll the guards went to sleep."
That statement is dated the 11th of October,

1945. I now read on to a further statement contained
in the same exhibit:

"SUGINO Tsuruo of Bornco PW Internment Unit,
states:

"I now admit thet the statement I made on 11
October 1945 wes not completely true. I will now
tell the complete truth.

"The information I gave concerning the killing
of the 32 PW at the house at the 5% mile hiam hoed
is 21l true,

"After the killing of the 32 PW, I together
with six or seven Farmosan guards, immedietecly went

to the 5 mile and woited until the arrival of NAGO
end three other Formosan guerds escorting 15 PW, who

rested on a small track lending off the rocc¢ and
opposite us, Shortly afterward, L/Cpl. KANEKO snd
eight mombers of the NISHIMUKA TAI elso arrived from
the 5% mile,

e T e




"I thought at the time that as food was getting
short, some of the PW might try to escape and I de-
cided that it would be better that we kill them.

After the PW had been resting ebout ten minutes, one
of the Europeun PW tried to escape by running into

the grass. 1 then gave the order to shoot the whole
15 PW., All the NISHIMUhA TAI and five or six Fcrmosan
guards took part in the shooting.

"After the shcooting, some of the PW were nct
dend, so I ordered that they be shot and bzycneted
as they lay on the ground. The men who had previously

run into the grass was also shot., We then buried

the bodies in two graves and I scnt the members of
the NISHIMUKA TAI straight beck to 7 mile and to-
gether with my own men, I returned to 5% mile to
complete the burial of the PW killed there., I later
went to 7 mile, where 1 spent the night."




LICUT. COLONEL MORNANE: My next document
is prosecution document No. 5334. It is a report
made by Captain M, J. Dickson of the British Army.
I tender it for identification and the marked excerpts
thereof in evidence,
THE PRESIDENT: Admitted on the usual terms,
CLFRK CF THE CCURT: Prosecution's document
No, 5334 wi'l receive exhibit No. 1€59 for identi-

fication only; and the marked excerpts therefrom,

hearing the same document number, will receive exhibit

No., 1659-A.

(Whereupon, the document above re-
ferred to was marked prosecution's exhibit
No. 1€59 for identificcstionjy and the excerpts
therefrom were marked prosecution's exhibit
No. 1€59-A and received in evidence.)

LIEUT. COLONEL MORNANE: The report states
that on the 19th of October, 1943, a revolt broke out
ir Jesselton, Borneo. About forty Japanese were
killed. .The Japanese retaliated by serding over planes
which bombed and machine gunned the villages north
of Jesselton, razing to the ground every buildiné
in Kota Bolud and causing much damage and loss of
life in Tuaran, Mengattal, Inanam and the surrounding

country. This suppressed the revolt. To clear up




the matter, a number of Kempel Tai were drafted from

Kuching to Jesselton. During the following months

they established a reign of terror, arresting hundreds

of men and women on suspicion and torturing them

to extract information about the guerrillas, Forced

confessions were followed by mass executions; on

cne occasion, admitted by the Japanese, 189 Chinese

and others were executed., Several hundreds of others

perished in prison from torture, starvation or disease.
The revolt was predominantly a Chinese

affair. The Suluk people secemed to have taken part

in it only on the first night. The Suluks inhabit

a number of small islands off the West Coast of

North Borneo. I will now read paragraphs four to

ten of the report:

"Japanese Knowledge of the Suluks' Partici-
pation,
"The part played by the Suluks in the

rising cannot have been very conspicuous, for it

was not until four months later that any action was
taken against thems In February 1944 an expedition
was sent to the Suluk island of Mantanani. Although

many arrests were made, it seems that the primary

object of the expedition was to search for a Chinese

guerrilla believed to be hiding in the island, and




the Suluks were not thought to be otherwise implicated
in the revolt,

"But a little later a certain Chinese, Dr,
Lou Lai, ‘who had been arrested by the Kempei Tai
on suspicion, broke down after prolonged torture and
gave the names of people who, he said, had taken
nart ir the rising, or in more recent conspiracies
against the Japanese, He named some of the Suluk
leaders. Further pressure was applied and the

doctor eventually incriminated the peoples of all the

Suluk islands. The Japanese thercupon took action

against the Suluk peovles, as described below,

"MANTANANI.,

"This group of islands lies about twenty
miles off the coast and is approximately sixty miles
by sea from Jesselton. It had a pre-war population
of 430,

“"On February 13th, 1944, the Japeznesc des-
patched a force to Mantanani, consisting of about
twelve Kempei Tai, twenty-rour soldiers, six native
police and two Chinese interpreters. Their primary
object was to discover the whereabouts of a Chinese
guerrilla named Lin 7in Fatt. The Suluks refused to
agree that he was on the island, The Japanese then

arrested fifty-eight of their men (whom they may




the Suluks were not thought to be otherwise implicated
in the revolt,

"But a little later a certain Chinese, Dr.
Lou Lai,‘who had been arrested by the Kempei Tai
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gave the names of people who, he said, had taken
nart ir the rising, or in more recent conspiracies
against the Japanese. He named some of the Suluk
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Suluk islands. The Japanese thercupon took action
against the Suluk peovoles, as described below,

"MANTANANI.

"This group of islands lies about twenty
miles off the coast and is approximately sixty miles
by sea from Jesselton. It had a pre-war population
of 430.

“"On February 13th, 1944, the Japenesc des-
patched a force to Mantanani, consisting of about
twelve Kempei Tai, twenty-rour soldiers, six native
police and two Chinese interpreters. Their primary
object was to discover the whereabouts of a Chinese
guerrilla named Lin 7in Fatt., The Suluks refused to

agree that he was on the island., The Japanese then

arrested fifty-eight of their men (whom they may




already have suspected) and took them back to Jesselton,

hoping, no doubt, to force thecm by torture to reveal
the whercabouts of the wanted man. All these fifty-
eight were killed by torture or starvation in Jessel=-
ton Prison and at the Kempei Tai office during the
following weeks; there 1s no survivor of these
fifty-eight,

"Or. February 15th the Japanese went back
to the island. The events of this visit are described
in deteail by eight witnesses, Chincse, Malay and
Suluk, and by four Japanesc now held in Labuan. The
two principal crimes committed on this visit were:
(1) The machine-gunning of Suluks, including women,
and subsequent‘killing of the wounded, after an en-
counter between o Japanese search-party and a group
of Suluks; (2) Immediately following this the massacre
of about twenty-five women and four children. All
witnesses stress the fact that the Suluks had no
fire-arms and such resistance as they offered with
spears and parangs was undertaken either in reply
to Japanesc fire or in the protecticn of their women
ard children, The Japanese burned the village and
destroyed the boats, thus showing their intention
of making Mentanani uninhabitable. Lt. SHIMIZU, who

was ir charge of the Japanese, has made a statement




admitting that he ordered the killing of the women.
It is expected that he will be brought to trial at
Singapore. The other Kempei Tai on this visit, who
are now in our hands, will probably be charged for
different offences in this area where the evidence
of their complicity is stronger.

"The Japanese visited the island a third

time and found it deserted,

"A month latcr, eight or nine Suluks were

caught on the mainland opposite Mantanani and detained
at Kota Belud. Two of them were men, the remainder
women and children, the youngest o baby-in-arms.
These were probably survivors from Mantanani who had
escaped to the mainland., They were kept in prigon
for about six wecks, and then executed one evening.
A hearsav report says that they were offered the
choice between shooting and beheading, and chose the
former.

"Two Kempei Tai,who are known to have been
in Kota Belud at this time and were probably connected
with the killing, are now held in Labuan, but the
evidence of their responeibility mav prove insufficient
to convict them. The killing of these women and

children at Kota Belud by the Japanese seems to indicate

a policy of extermination.




J“"

"The population of Mantanani has been

reduced by Japanese action from 430 tc the present

figure of about 125, of whom not more than 20 or 25

arc adult males.

"DINAWAN,

"This is a small islard lying off Kinarut.
It supported a population of 120 before the war.

The present population consists of fifty-four, all
of whom are women and children under sixteer years
old. Of the original population not a single adult
male survives. One male has come from Mangalum to
gettle in the island, and onc or two others visit
the island at odd times for obvious purnoses.

"In February or March 1944 all males on
the island over twelve vears of age, numbering thirty-
seven, were arrested and taken to Jesselton Prison.
The women of the island vigorously deny that their
men took any part in the rising. Soon afterwards the
Javanese reroved the women and children to another
island.

"What happened afterwards to the arrested
men and youths cannot be known for certain. None of
them survives. Many witnesscs have stated that they
saw about this time Suluks being tortured in jail and
at the Kempei Tai office but thev seldom knew which
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island the Suluks they saw came from. In July, 1944,
thirty-seven Suluk men and youths were taken to Dinawan
Island, by then cleared of its irhabitants, and
exccuted there. There is evidence to suggest that
some, if not 2ll, of these were the Suluks originally
arrcsted on the island. There is no doubt that those
shot included boys of twelve or fourteer years. A
statement has been given by the officer in charge

of the Kempei Tai at this execution and by two others
present, There is no means of proving whether these
men had been tried., But it is unlikely that a fair
trial would have proved all the adult males of the
island guilty of hostilities and deserving of death.
The oldest male survivor ;s now about fourteen.

"The women and children, who had been reroved
to Gaya Island, were kept under conditions described
in the stat-ments of Alagur and €ujiang, as a result
of which about thirty per cent died. It wés'thought
that a charge migﬁf be mode against the Japanese
trading company which appeared tc be responsible for
these conditions, but when it was found that all
members of the company had been returned to Japan ’
a few weeks earlier further evidence was not collected,

"SULUG.

"This island lies off Tanjong Aru, near




Jesselton. One report stated that a party from

this 1sland burned the Customs godown on the night

of October 9/10 1943. The chief of the island,
Panglima (Leader) ALI, and all the males the Japanese

could find -- about twenty-nine -- were arrested and

brought to Jesselton. A statement is attached, by

a rcliable witness named OH TING MING, who shared a
cell with ALI and his sons, describing the torture

of the voungest boy. The hanging of Ali wes witnessed
by another informant pamed LAJUN, All the twenty-nine
perished in unknown wnysj rone survives.,

"About forty women and children from Sulug
Island were removed to BANGAWAN Estate in North Borneo,
where they worked under corditions which they reported
to the BMA authoritics at Papar on their liberation.
They state that twenty-five of their number died
from hunger and disecase during this period of forced
labour. Of the original population of 114, about 59
survive ir Sulug itself and the neighbouring island
of Manukan,

"UDAR.

Wphese two islands lie off Mengattal. A
party from Udar is stated to have 1anded and assisted
the guerrillas at Mengattal and Telipok at the time
of the October rising. All adult males were later




arrested and done to death., One witness saw their

chief ARSAT flogged in Jesselton, Forty-five women

and children were removed to Kimanis Estate in

North Borneo, where eleven of them died. The popu-
lation, which before the war was sixty-four, is now
reduced to thirty-five, of whom only two are adult
males: I have not personally investigated the affairs
of this island.

"This island (reported oil-bearing) lies
about thirtv-five miles off the mainland. I did not
investigate the Jopanesc treatment of the inhabitants,
but it appears to have been similar to their treatment
of the other Suluks. A witncss named Budin has
deseribed the arrival in Jesselton of fifteer men
arrected on this island, and another witness, Bachee,
accompanied the Japanese on a visit to the island, when
they burned the kampong.

“Suluks in Jesselton Gaol.

"I attach numerous statements describing
the beatings, tortures, hangings and deaths of Suluks
in Jesselton Gaol,.

"T received from the BMA at Papar a report
by Maarof bin Abdullah, trans;ated and edited by
Major R. K. Hardwick of the A, I. F. The writer,




who was in Jessclton Jail in May and June 1944, states
that the Sulaks in jail then numbered 258 men and

women. He states: 'All died by beatings, from

disease, by being dried in the sun, and about one
hundred were removed at 1 a. m, on 17th June 1944
by the Japs to Milc 5 and there shot. Three were
killed by slashing at the jail door.' I was not
able to interview this witness.

"I have not met or heard of one male Suluk
who survived imprisonment.

"Permanent Effects on the Race.

"There is probnbly at the present time a
sufficient number cf Suluk childrer of both sexes
to carry on the race and prevent its extinction.
Their state of health is, however, poor, and it is
the opinion of Colonel Combe, an experienced administra-
tor whe has known the Suluks well in peace and war,
that 'the loss of the adult male populatior will have
a serious effect on the race.' There will almost
certainly be assimilated a larger element of Bajar

blood, Some of their hereditary skill in fishing and

other occupatiocns may be lost for lack of adult men to
hand down the traditions of the race."
My next document is an affidavit made by ==
THE PRESIDENT: Mr. Logan.




MR. LOGAN: If the Tribunal please, in view
of the charge made by the prosecution in the opening
statement of this phase I think it advisable to the
first -- at least -- the first and last sentences
in the Cdénclusion in this document just read made by
the investigator of these alleged crimes.

THE PRESIDENT: Yes,

LIEUT. COLONEL MORNANE: My next documept
is an affidavit made by Bachce bin 0.K.K. Hassan of
;ﬂanam. It is prosecution document No. 5209. I
tender it for identification and the extracts thereof
in evidence. .

THE PRESIDENT: Admitted on the usual terms.

CIERK (F THE 'UCURT: Prosecution's document
No. 5209 will receive exhibit No. 1€60 for identi-

fication only, The excerpts therefrom will receive

exhibit No. 1€€0-A.

(Whereupon, the document above re-
ferred to was marked prosecution's exhibit
No. 1660 for identification; and the extracts
therefrom were marked prosecution's exhiﬁit

No. 1660-A and received in evidence.)
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LIEUT. COLONFI, MORNANE: The affiant states:

Pegpg-——

"(1) thet Ye ané e numbef of Chinese werc arrested,

Y

besten end imprisoncd without trial on the suspition

So=mpIy g

of reving been concerned in Jesselton revolt;

Qe

"(2) tret on first visit of Japanese to Mantawani Is-
land one Suluk was killed by the Japs and 58 others

were arrested, tiken to Jesselton and imprisoned."

oOw+HO =

He describes their trecatment ss follows:

"These Suluks were teken first to the Kempei

AP ey A

Tel office at Jecssclton vhere they were eech given

a slip of paper with thelr neme on, I wes with them

then. Trey were then taken to the prison. Every dey

after tret, for a weeck or so, five or six Kempei Tai
ceme to the prrison and took back e few Suluks to thre

office for cucstioning., I wss sometimes used aa &n

peoa %

interpreter while the Suluks were being guestioned,
The Kcmpel Tei used to ask them wket they rad done

in the rising, whether they bed attacked the Custom
Fouse or burnt the rubber, If the Suluk said "No',

*n g N g el

——

he wes beaten with e stick ebout four foot long, as
thick as a police beton. They were bester all over
the body. Somc of them during trhe beatings admitsed
having done what the Jepsnese sald they had done. I

cannot tell whether they were true confessi-ns or

.y

whether they only admitted these shings because théy

-

Ay e g




were beeten so eruelly, Trere vere no triesls, Some-
i

tiges I saw Suluks tied #nd water poured down their
throats till their stomach wes full, Then the Kempel
Tei would jump on the man's stomach or kick it, I did
not see any actuelly die curing the torture but most
of them were ncerly deed when they were dragged awey.
Meny of thcm died eect dey in prison as & result of
these tortures, I never saw or heard of eny medical
troatment being given them in prison, All the food
they got was & little sago. I don't know whet was
done witk the bodies, I solemnly state trat I per-
sonally witnessed Suluks being flogged end tortured
by ecch onc of the Kempei Tai whom I bave named es
going on the first trip to Mentanani, Other Kempel
Tei who had not been to the 1slend elso took pert in
these torturcs; I don't know all their nemes., I do
not know the namecs of any but a few of the Suluks,

I sew Penglima Ali end 0, T, Arsat flogged &nd tortured-
by MUKAI., T saw Penglime Sibul flogged end tortured by
ENDO; I sew Tatﬁng flogged and tortured by Sergeant
Msjor HAYASFI, I sew Masukl flogged anc¢ tortured by
HASSEGA™A, All these men died & few deys after their
beating in Jesseclton prison. I have no doubt trat
their desths were in eécr cese due solely to the

floggings they bod received by the men named. They
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all seemed fit men before they were tortured. INABA,

NUKUSHINA, UCHIVAIA, KIUCHI end YAMAKATA 2lso beat
severely in my prescnce Suluks who soon afterwerds died,
but I do not know thc nemes of the Suluks they flogged.
(3) thet on 2 sccond visit to Mantanani the
Jeps took away six old men, Later they told him
tret they red killed them, On the following day the
Japs shot € men #nd 50 womcn and children on the edge
of the jungle end leter at ¢ villege tied up end shot
20 or 30 women &né children,"
Prosecution document No. 5214 is an affidavit
by Tong Ah Senng., I tender it for identificetion,
end the merked excerpts in evidence.
TFE PRESIDFNT: Admitted on the usuel terms,
CLFR¥ OI' TH™ COURT: Prosecution's document
No. 5214 will receive exhibit No. 1661 for identifica-
tion only. Tre excerpts therefrom will receive exbhibit
No. 1661-A,
("rereupon, prosecution's document
No. 5214 wes nmarked prosecution's exhibit No.
1661 for identificetion, and the excerpts there-
from were merked prosecution's exbibit No, 1661-A,
end was rcceived in evidence.)
LIPUT. COLONEL MORNANE: The affidevit gives

an account of the shooting of the 2C or 30 women or

Y N B R S
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children on the secord Japerncse visit to Mantaneni
Islends. I will nov reed the excerrts from the
third reragraph on page 23

"At length thc Jepencse #11 &arrived at the
| kempong, bringing some rations withk them, Bachee ac-
comrenied them., The Japrnese ordered Bachee to col-
lect £11 the gold rings ené the money from thc women.
Fe Fended them to me. Nine rings and about a hun-
dred dollers in Jepcnese currency notes werc collected.,
"hen I arrived beck in Jesselton, MASUDA, the inter-
preter, took these from me.

"MASUDL tren gave the order thet all the
vomen werce to be tied with tFrir bénds behind their
becks, Thls was done and then & rope wes rut through
the brck of thoir erms, so thet thc women were 2ll
strung together. The ends of the rope were made fest
to two pillars in the mosque., There were about twenty
or thirty women thus tied up, end about four or five
children with them,

"MASUDA told the women thet SFIMIZU bad

ordered thecm to be shot beceuse the Suluk'pcople had

killed Jepenese. Hc spoke in Malay, which I understand.
Tre women cricd,
"Then the machine gun w-s fired into the women.

Tre firing lasted only & few seconds. ™hen it stopped
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some of the women were still slive, I sew the Kempel
Ted go forward £nd shoot the wounded with their pistols,
Everyone who ceme on this second visit to Mentaneni
Islend wes present et the killing by thc mosque, except
for the two dead soldiers, the two wounded Kempei Tal,
e smell rartv of soldiers who wert on bocrd the ship,
end tre netive police who had becn sent away just
before the firing took place.

"After the killinp, SKIMIZU gave orders that
the kampong wrs to be burnt, "hren thet wes done we
all went back to the boet vhkich we rerched just es it

was getting derk. "o then returned to Jesselton.

"I never sav or heerd of any Suluk in the

islenc Faving firearms,
"I never sav eny attack on the Jepznese by

the Suluks,"
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Prosecution document No, 5212 is an affidevit
by Begi bin Lindoman of Plesen, I tender the originel
for identificetion end the marked excernts in evidence.

1HE PRESIDENT: :sdmitted on the usucl terms.

CLIRK OF THE COTRT: Prosecution's document
No. 5212 will receive exhibit No. 1662 for identifica-
tion only, £¢nd the excerpts therefrom will receive
exhibit No. 1662A.

(“hereupon, nrosecution's document
No. 5212 wes marked prosecution's exhibit No,
1662 for identificetion, the excerpts there-
from being merked Prosecution's exhibit No.
1662A and received in evidence.)

LILUT, COLONEL MORNANE: I will now read the

second, third, fourth, end fifth paregrenhs:

"I wes arrested by the Jrpenese ¢t some time
ebout two yecrs rgo end committed to jeil for theft
for one yeer. While I wes in jeil in Kotz Belud,
8 Binadans were put in jail., There were two men, five
worien ond one mele child. Their hends were tied when
they ccme in but efter 2 while the hands of the women
were undone. The men were never loosed and their wrists
were cut by their bonds. I wes not able to speak to
them and they did not speak emong themselves. I don't

know where they ceime from or why they were 1in jeil,
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They were in jeil with me for ebout four weeks, The
men were trken out rbout six times rnd returned with
hezd ¢nd bodies swollen, The woren, %ere beaten seversl
times in the jail in front of me. I could recognise
sone of the Jsvs who hit them, but I don't know their
nomes.

"One dey at rbout § p.m. I wes ectine with
Angillen, &n up-country Dusun, when he seid 'The
Binadens cre going to be shot this evening.' I seid

'How do you know?' He replied 'Pecause today we heve

been digging their groves on the other side of the rcce-

course, e were told it wes to be their grrves by
Kolod (the sergeent.,) The hole wes cbout one faothom
square,'

"gt sbout 7 p.m. the Jepanese f-tched the
Binadens from the jzil. One of the woren carried the
child on her back, Their hends were tied snd.they were
marched away. About an hour later I hecrd one” burat
of mechine-gun fire. The Binedcns did not come back
to the jeil an¢ I have never seen them since.

"The Jepoanese who took the Binadens were 2ll
Kempei Toi. They hed red =rm bands ond wore swords."

Prosecution document No. 5211 is an affidevit
by Sujicng, # Suluk women of Dincwen Islend. I tender

it for identificstion ond the marked excernts thereof
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in evidence.
TH: PR: SIDENT: Admitted on the usual terms.,
CLERK OF THF COURT: Prosecution document No.
8211 will reeeive exhibit No. 1663 for identificetion

|
only, t¢nd the merked excerpts therefrom will receive

exhibit No. 16634,
(“hereuron, prosecution's document
lo. 5211 wrs merked vprosecution's exhibit To.
1663 for identification, the excerpts there-
from being mcrked prosecution's exhibit Wo.

16634 ond received in evidence.)

f
‘.
|

LILUT. COLONEL LORNANY.: The a2ffient states

e

n(1) her husbend ond other men of Dinewan

Islend did not trke pert in Jesselton revolt;

| o

n(2) =ofter the revolt the Jenanese ccme to
Dinewen and arrested cnd took awey 37 of the men, includ-

ing her husbend;

s N Py e

n(3) subsequently the Jrpanese deported 91

-

woiien &¢nd children from Dinawen Islend to Geya Island,

el . -
e e e

where 27 died from stervction;

n(4) cfter the Jenanese surrencer she returned

to Dincwen Islzand ond there found 2 groves containing

‘—.::.

» number of deccnitated bodies 2nd 37 hezds. She

,a
-

recognized one of these hérds os being her husbend,

W N

‘
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Prosecution document No. 5208 is o stotement
by Lieutencnt NiKATA, Shinichi of Kempel Teoi, I
tender it for identificetion nnd the marked excerpts
in evidence.

TH: PRTSIDENT: Admitted on the usuel terms.

CLERK OF THE COURT: Prosecution's dodumént
No. 5208 will receive exhibit No. 1664 for identifice-
tion only; the excernts therefrom will receive exhibit
No. 1664A.

(Yhereuron, nrrosecution's document
No. 5208 wrs morked vnrosecution's exhibit Mo,
1664 for identification, the evcernts there-
from being marked prosecution’s exhibit No.
1664A cnd received in evidence.)

LIFUT. COLONFL 'ORNANE: The strtement cdmlts
thet the Jepanese shot about 40 Suluks on Dincwan
Islond cbout July 44, cnd thet Colonel NACHIGUCHI wes
& spectrctor,

Prosecution document No. 5213, affidavit of
Lejun of Inenem Islond, I tender it for identificcotion

end the merked excerpts in evidence.

THE PRESIDENT: Admitted on the usuel terms,
CLIRK OF THE COURT: Prosecution's decument
No. 5213 will receive exhibit No. 1665 for identi‘ica-

tion only, ¢nd the oxcerots therefrom will recelve
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exhibit No. 1665A.
("hereunon, prosecution's document
No. 5213 wes marked prosecution's exhibit No.
1665 for identificction, the excerpts there-
from being merked prosecutién's exhibit No.
1665A ond received in evidence.)
LIEUT. COLONEL MORHANE: The affiant scys
thot he wes errested after the rising rnd deteined at
Kempei Tri office Jesselton where he sew 2 large number
anf people becten cnd tortured. Lecter he became & werder
at the jeil, I shall recd excerpts from the start of
the fifth pcragrephs :

“Dhring the time I wrs ¢ warder, meny Suluks

‘were brought into the prison. I never saw £ny ccturlly

sprive. I saw them in jail after they crrived. They
weré not kept in my block with the civil prisoners. 1
saw Suluks being questioned in the building I heve
deseribed, znd being tortured by the Kempei Tel. They
were nerrly elweys becten with hervy sticks 21l over
the body. O0ften I sow the woter torture used on Suluks,
ylhen the stomceh wes filled with weter, the Kemnel Tei
put ¢ wooden borrd on the stomech :nd'then pressed or
jumped on this, When the men become unconscious, which

he usuelly did, the Kempei Toi drcgged out the “body

into the sun. I ¢lso sow the Kempei Tei rpnly burning




exhibit No. 1665A.

(vhereuvnon, prosecution's document
No. 5213 wes marked rrosecution's exhibit No.
1665 for identificrtion, the excerpts there-
from being merked prosecutibn's exhibit No.
1665A ond received in evidence.)
LIEUT. COLONEL MORIANE: The affiant scys
thot he wes errested after the rising rnd deteined ot
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Kempel Tci office Jesselton where he sew o large number

nf people becten cnd tortured. Leter he became & werder

at the jeil, I shall recd excerpts from the start of

the fifth pcragreph:

"During the time I wrs ¢ warder, meny suluks
'were brought into the prison. I never saw &ny ectunlly
errive. I saw them iﬁ jail after they ecrrived. They
were not kept in my block with the civil prisoners. 1
saw Suluks being questioned in the building I hove
deseribed, cnd being tortured by the Kempei Tei. They

were necrly elweys becten with hervy sticks all over

the body. Often I sow the woter torture used on Suluks,
when the stomcch wes filled with weter, the Kemnel Teil
put ¢ wooden borrd on the stomech rnd then pressed or
jumped on this. When the men beceme unconsciovus, whieh
he ususlly did, the Kempel Toi drcgged out: the body

into the sun. I eglso sow the Kémpei Tei rpnly burning




frggots to the bodies of Suluks rnd other prisoners,
especirlly to the thighs, I did not witness ony
prisoner dying during the torture, I know from other
werders th: t meny Suluks dicd soon ofter thelr torture,

"I never scw ony trial ¢t the joil nor ¢t the
Kempel Tri Headducrters when I wos there. I never
herrd of onyone heving ¢ trigl in Jesselton by the Japs.
irrested men were just questioned ¢nd becten,

"T could recognisc mcny of the Kemve T-i who
took prrt in the tortures ct the jeil,

"I een only renmcmbcr the nome of one Suluk
I stw in jJeil, I knew him previously becouse he often
used to visit Jesselton. His neme was Penglime All,
He wes one of some Suluks vho were rlready‘in Jeil
when I took up my duties. I think he ves becten in
Jril dbut I d4d not sce the becting, But I sew him
henged, He wes one of four Suluks henged ot the scme
time. After the honging the bodies were put in two
coffins ¢nd cerricd awey for buricl by eight nrisoners,

I covld recognise the Kempcl Tal who were presént ct

the hanging. Onc of the prisoners efterwards told me '

where the body was buricd."
I now proposc to ccll Werrcnt Officer First

Wiliiem Heetor Sticpewich.




STICPEWICH

WILLIAM HECTOR ETICPENICH,
celled os & witness on beholf of the prosecution,
being first duly sworn, testified os follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION
BY LIIUT. COLONFL MORNANE :
Q Your nome is ™illicm Hector Sticpewich?
4 Yes,
N 4ind you are ¢ W.rrecnt Officer First atteched
te 31lst Wer Grives Unit?
A Thet is correct,
Q 4nd your privete sddress 1s 128 Hannell Street,
Wickhem, New Costle, New South "cles?
A Thet 1s correct,
Q In Februscry, 1942, you beceme # vrisoner ot
the general surrender ¢t Singcpore?
f Yes, thrt 1s correcct.
When did you lcrve Singenore?
I left Singevore rbout the 8th of July, 1942,

Q
A
Q And where did you go to?
A

“e lended £t Sandcken on the 18th of July,

And wheot wes the name of the force you were
7’

"B" Force.,

And how mcny men were in thet forec?
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STICPE"ICH DIRECT

other food othcr.thtn riecc issucd from the Jcnonese
until cbout five weeks. Our first issue wrs nrotein
rnd vegcetebles which erme in rbout five weeks nfter
which was fish, 150 pound for the whole cemn, ond
Gbout ¢ hundred pound of vcgetobles. Supplics of fish
cnd vegetcbles were ot roguler intervels in the corly
‘stages after thet, &
Q ﬂell, now, with rcgerd to working pcrtics,
whet wes £irst donc cbout them?
A  Approximrtely ofter five weceks -- 7fter we
hcd been five wecks in the 8 Mile Comp, the demended
300 for ¢ working r:trty to construet ¢ rocd cnd #lso
X 300 fer zerodrome¢ construction.
GG  That wes the first incident of imnmorteonce
th:t took ploce aftcr the working ncrties were sterted?
A The further demrnd for morc men to go out on
work pcrtics incrcesed to 800 for the dromc. There
wes £lso demends for other working ncrtics, construe-
tion work prrtics, brought it up to rbout 1100 pcople
required out of tﬁc crmp on working vcrties. Farly in
September some prisoners of wer esciped. The result®
of these prisoncrs csecping, thc eomp wes mess punished.
The punishment wes stoppage of our food for o veriod.
Q@ To whom did thnt punishment apply?

A The whole of the ermp.
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L 1496, ;
¢ Vell, thcn, rfter you lended ot Srndeken where

did you go?

A e procceded to ¢ Crntholic school up on the
hill ebove Srndrken, We stoyed there during the night,
Q VWhere did you go on the following day?

A Out to thc 8 lile Comp known os the Agriculture)
Stction, Srndcken,

Q 4ng how long did you stey there, yourself?

A  From that dete up to 29 Moy 1945,

Q "hit wes the cccomodrtion like et thet crmp?

A Quite incdcoucte for the number of nersons
requircd in 1t.

G And whct wes the weter supply?

A The wrter supply wes drown from ¢ filthy creek
tbout three-querters of ¢ milc cwey by » oumring ser-
vice, pumped up into r reservoir holding 2700 gellons
which wcs considered by the Japcnese o dey's retion of
weter for the comp for rll purposcs. This water wes
very muddy cnd full of breterir.

Q Well, now, with rcgerd to the food nosition
¢t thet time, whet wes 1t%

A Yhcen we first cnt-red the 8 ifile Ceomp we were
issucd « dcily cpnroximote retion of 16 or 17 nunces

of riec per dry. Wc got no othir vecgetcbles or cny




STIGPEWICH DIRECT

Q ‘%ecll, then, whet wes the next metter of

importonce thet took plree?

A On rbout the 12th of Scntember in the morning
we were ¢ll cellcd on perzde, cverybody. Ve were
surroundcd by & lcrge number of armed gucrds who hed
trms from outside which covercd us with mcchinec guns,
¢tnd surrounded by other gucrds with rifles, fixed
boyoncts. Then the Jrpancse cemp commendrnt, Licutcnent
HOSIGIMA, got ~n thc plctform snd grve 2 speech in
Jepenese. Then he rerd out ¢ document thst he hrd in
his hed. It wes thcen trensletcd into Enelish by his
interpretcr. The document wos to the cffect thet if
any pcrson or prisoncr rttemnted to escence that he
knew that we c¢11l world be shot; 2., thrt we would promisc
not te c¢scope; ¢nd the third itcm on theot document wes
thct we would promisc thrt we world obey c¢ll the
ordcrs issucd by the Impericl Jcocnesc Army., It wes
then handed to Coloncl Weclsh, Alrforcc Commendcr, who
then got on the pletform cnd reed thet document ngein,
And then he strted, "I, for onc, won't sign." He wes
never given ¢ chencee to finish whet he intended to
sty, but hc wes drogged down off the platform, tcken
outside thc comp undcr Licutencnt HOSIGIMA's orders,
ticd up with his-hrnds bchind his back. Then HOSIGIMA
celled for & firing orrty, gucrds formed up in front

R




STICPEVICH

of Coloncl 7slsh. On sceing whet wes goine to henpen,

¢nd reclizing we were being forced to sien this docu-

ment under durcss, we cclled out, "Don't shoot the

colonel. 'e will sign." The wording of the document

wes slightly cltered rnd we signed,
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STICPEVICH DIRECT

@ Well, now, whon the vworking partics sterted
the aisdrome, hove you anything morc to scy on that
matter -. General Walsh?

A Ycsy I do. He was rolenscd then, When it
728 known that we wore going to sizn, Coloncl Walsh
was rclcascd and returncd to ecamp,

Q@  "Hen the working partics vepe enlled for
the airdrome wens any protest mede?

A It wos about a wock boforo we rcalized
that where we were morking was to build an airdrome.
Whon that was found out o protost was made to
Licutcnant HOSIGIMA,

THE MONITOR: How do you spcll thot?
THE 'ITNES®: HeOwS=I=G=I-M-A.

0 What vas srid on thet protcest?

A That we undorstood that the airédrome was
a military proicet that 1t was Intended to construct
and 1t wcs contrary to international law to have
prisonecrs of war to work on that construction; and
they said the working partilcs would go on and he
rcfoerred to an cddross glven to the comp and stated
that we would work on that alrdrome, and it had to
be complcted in three years; and, if ncecssory, we
would work until wo died. On the first visit to the
canp of Coloncl SUGA, who vias in charge of the

prigonirs of e 0l 11 of th- e~i'ng oo nrlsoncis




STICPEVICH

of war in Borneco & furthor protest wne made to him
anc he stated on parade that it wag o commercial
civil projoct and the work had to g0 on,

Q Could you say whother, in faet, thot drome
upon completion wes uscd for military aireraft or
not?

A  Ycs, the first plancs took off from that
drome, war plancs, fighter plancs, in Scptember,
1943, ond it wias right up until Dceemher, 1944,

extensively used for all types of wnr plones.

Q@ Yell, now, whet was the position with

-

regard to treoatment of vprisoners from o disciplinery
point of vicw at the time of SUGA's visit,

THE MONITOR: Up to whosc visit?

LIEUT. COLONEL MORNANE: SUGA's visit.

A  Othcr than the incidont of mass vunishment
for an attonpted escanc, iust minor incidonts for
breaking of camp diseiplino, 1t wes not so bead.
Therec were frequent beatings of prisoners of war on
working partics.

Q@  And then after SUGA's visit what was tho
position?

A The diseipline tightencad up to such an
extent that 1t was eruecl. It eome right down to

irritation tacties administcred by the guards,
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—ﬂ_EEEErnl be:ﬁings of working paftiéé-nt the drdﬁé~—
cirport.

Q Well, then coming to April, 1943, what
have you zot to say as to the position then?

A Then there was a new sct of guards took
over control of thc eamp, known ns the "Prisonors
of ar Guard Unit." It was knoun to us os the
"Kitchic" -~ small soldiors.

Q What did thoy do?

A  Their trcotment toware prisoncrs of war
was twice os bad as that of tho other soldicrs who
had precviously been suerds at the comp. They
wouldn't have to have o reason. Thoy would etop
a prisoncr on any prctence at all and slap him, beat
him around.

Q@ Vhat hoppened at the drome 2t that time?

A At this time the drome construction unit
which was in charge of Li-utcnant OKAHARA =- in
chargec of us up till tken == he was withdravn and
then they put o speeicl gang of 0ld soldiers --
"Bashers" we called them -- to administrate the
working partics., Aftcr OKAHARA loft they hed a
special gang of "Bashcrs.!

THE MONITOR: "“Bashers'" -~ you mecan somcbody

vho basheos?
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THE WITNESS: Ycs, bashcs.
D Will vou deseribe to tho Tribunal what that

gang did?
THE PRESIDENT: Wo will toke his onswer

oftor the rccess. We will roccss for fiftcon minutes.

(Whercupon, at 1445, a rccess
was token until 1500, efter which the

prococdings were rosumed os follows:)
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MARSHAL OF THE COURT: The International
Militery Tribunel for the For kest 1s now resuncé.
THE PRESIDENT: ''¢ are having great
difficulty in hcaring what this witness is saying.
He must speak up or speak closer to the nicrophone.
Yes, Colonel.
BY LIEUT. COLONEL MORNANE (Continued):

Q Before the ac journnent T aslted you to
deseribe to the Tribunal what this speeial sec-
tion of ren did.

A Our cduties were to go tround the work
parties, go 'round tho airdrome ond other work
partics, road parties, and these perties would be
working in batches of 50, They would visit these
working parties, whatever work he was doing. In
some instances there was men down trenches, digging
artesian drains. They would take over thé drain,
these parties, work nartics, would be working in
the drain -- in sore instenoces @igging an artesian
drain, This specizl gang or speclal tean of
soldiers, 2bout eight in all, would cone along
and order the party out of the drain, or vhatever
work they was doing. They would be stond to

attention, ond these Jopanese == special Jopancse

guardsh—- as I scid previously, about eight in
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number -- were arme¢ with pick handles, eanes,

(5 2NN NN p Sy svipqptin

and other implements used to belt the orisoners

of war with, Now they would stand the gong -- this
varty of nrisoners -- to attuntion, with their arns
outstretched, and they would go along behind then,
belting then under the ernms, over the shoulder,
anywhere 2t all; they werev not particulaer where
they hit a prisoner of war or what they hit him
with, This punishnent would last, ot tines, up

to twunty minutcs, as an everage. The whole party
would be beaten, and, if a prisoner showed signs

of »ain, he would gct nore,

Q Now, whrt would be the nhysical results
to the prisoners?

A It would be -~ the result would be that
some prisoners would be taken back each night to
camp, elther carried back on stretchers as being
renderec unconscious, or arm broken or leg or hips
broken, or just badly beat-up condition; men were
so veak,

Q "hat was the food position in April, 19437

A I would like to add further to the punish-

.,.‘

nent on the drome. Irrespective of what viorking

party was in at the drome, you never knew when 1t

was going to be punished, just come 'round your turn,

e, O S M
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or whether you was doing enything, or doing any-
thing contrary to the Japanese idea or not, you
were punished,

Q Vhat was the food position in April, 1943%

A The rore ve complained about this treat-
rent at the drore the rore intense the punishment
was,

Q@ Will you please answer rny questions,
witness? Vhat was the food nosition in Lpril, 1943%

L At thoe end of Aoril, 1943, our ration wes
reduced to 2bout half,

Q Vell, now, with regard to punishment of
prisoners who were brought before the Cerp Con-
nmandant, will you tell the Court what nunishment,
was inflicted upon then?

A  They would be anprehended and put in
cages,

Q Will you deseribe to the Tribunzl the

first of these cages?

A The first cage was a heavy, wooden con~

struction, about 4 fect, 6 wide, about 5 fect, 6 --
6 fect long, and 2 foot, 9, or 3 foot high, wooden
floor, wiooden roof, flat., The floer and ceiling
was heavy plank, and the walls were about 2 by 2

bars, 2-inch spacing., There was o small door
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2 feet by 18 inches, which you had to crawl in.
Q Vell, now, would you tvll the Tribunal
of an instance where you have s¢en nen nut in the

cage, and how he was treated?

& There was one example, Private Hincheliffe.
He was annrehended at the rirport for being awcy
from his party. Hincheliffe's purposec away from
the perty was in search of fallen cocoanuts to
supplerent his food., Tiwy fell off the treoe to
the ground, and he picked then up« He was only
caught a short Cistance away fron his party, but he

had the meat of the cocoanut in lils possession,

He wos talen back to the camp from the airfield,

ailr-port, acirdrome, and placed in front of the guard-’

house, first standing to attention., While he was ’
standing there for over an hour he was subjected
internittently to beatings from the guard who were
in the guard box, as many as four at a time. He
was beaten with a stick, a replica of a Samurai
sword, one the guard had; another guard hed a board;
others kicked him, The second in charge of the
Japangse guard, Licutenant MOROTIKI, cane along
then end ordered him to be put in the cage. Daily,
&t frequent intervals, I saw Hincheliffe taken out

of the cage and beaten by the guards. He was not
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allowed any food for seven doays,

A And during th. day, while he wes in the
cage, how would he have to sit?

A He would have to sit to attention; and
if he relaxed ot all he would be brovght out of
the cage cnd beaten,

Q Now, can you give re cn gstimate of the
nunber of ren you lave scen given the "eage" treat-
nent?

A At least 40,

Q Yell, now, coning to fugust, 1943, will

you tell us what happened then?

A During August, 1943, there was a serics
of scarches of the camp, Ve learned that the
Japanese suspected us of having a wircless set.
This was confirmed by the finding of a diary during
the search, ~nd one particuler ofternoon Captain
HOSIGIMA came to the camp eérd cclled for Ko, 142,
prisoner c¢f warj I think that was the nurber. It
turned ou* to be Liecutenant Vells who came forward.
HOSIGIMA ~: this tine was a Captain, and he con-
fronted Wells. He says, "Mr. Vells, I am surprisec.
Is this your diary?" "ells hesitated, and sald
"yes," He says, "You are a foolish young nan.

“hot ¢id vou write this for?"

e
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Q “hat ¢id he do to Malls?
A  He then seized "Wells, smacked Wells
aoross the face, and then seized hin by a necker-

chicef which he had around his neck &nd twisted it

up, and, ot tho same tine serewing it up, continued
striling him ~bouvt the face with his fist. Then
he asked Lieutenant Vells, "Yhere is the radilo
referred to in this diary? OShow it to re."

THE PRISIDENT: Ve do not want all these
detoils., We will never finish., There are ten
thousand episodes like this. e eannot hear all
the details.

rhat hennened to Wells? what was done to

Q "hat was done to Wells®?

A Wells was tied up and token out of the
camp by the Kempetals along with about twenty~six
others from the camp,‘including sore senlor
officers.,

THE PRuSIDuNT: Did Wells make an affi-
davit? I thought I saw his name in an affidavit
herecs

LIEUT. COLONEL MORNANE: Yes, your Honor.,

THE PRESIDENT: Are you not satisfied to

rest on Vells! affidavit? He covers the same
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ground,

LIEUT, COLONEL MORNANRN:: I orl quite
sotisfied, your Honor, but I thought this rnorning
you were anxious to have the excerpts,

BY LIEUT. COLONEL MORNANZ (Continued):

Q Yere you, Sonrsclfy ever in the eage?

A Yes, I wos in the cage after this inci-
dent,

Q Will you deseribe the treatrent that you
received?

A T was tled up and interrogated -- the
following night I was arrcested, tied up and in-
terrognted from five o'clock in the evening until
half-past one in the morning. Two other soldiers,
including myself, were put into the cage =~ the
srall cage; and in that cage there was three
officers, three captains, and a »rivate. That

nade a total of scven,

Q For how long were you kept there?
A

I think it wos four nights and three
days.
Q Did you recelve any mosquito curtains or
blankets while you werc there?
A No.
Q Vere you let out of the cage at all?
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A In the.rorning about svven ofelock and
ebout five o'clock in the ce¢vening.

Q Vell, now, éid rny additional troops
arrive at that camp? '

A rbout the end of March, 1943, there wes
a party of English wrisoncrs of war brought to
Sandalan, The narty consisted of 740, aporoxi-
nately.

Q Vere they in the same canp as you or in
an ad jecent camp? -

A At first they was quartered at the aire
drgne, and later cene into an arec adjacent to our
canp .-at end of June,

Q Well, apart from those troops, cid any
other troops come into the canp?

A There was a forece of Australians known
as “E'Forccz" that core into the adjacent canp
on the first of June, '43.

Q 4ind how many were in that force? \
A Five hundred, That nade three separate

camps: No. 1 Camps, No., 2 Carmps =-- the English --

No. 3 Carmps of 500 Australians.
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Q@ Did you know of any man that died in the

cage as a result of his treatment?
A Yes, a Private Barber.
0 In the first year you were at thet camp

how manv died? {

How™ R augs

A Approximately twenty-four.

0 And whet d4id trey die of?

A Beriberi, mainly. Other lack of -~ just
general disability,

0 ™hat was the position with regerd to food
at the end of 19447

A  "e were reduced then to a ration consisting
only of tapioca and sveet potatoes and a small
gquantityr of greens, and four ounces of rice.

0 Coming to tre end of January 1945, what
happered then?

A At the ernd of January around about the
25th, there was a demand come to the camp regquir-
ing 500 Australian prisoners of war for a working
party,

0 As a result of that, what happened?

A "e rad a perade and & medical inspection
and the fitter ones were detailed for this party.

0 And what happened then?

A The first party of Australians moved out
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of the camp on the mornirg of the 28th of January
and they continued to move out in batches of
approximately fifty, until nine parties had gone,
end the total prisoners of war thet were mustered
up were only 470, on the both cemps, English and
Australian -- that i1s all thev could muster.

0 Apart from that number that went out, bad
other officers and men been removed from your camp?

A Ves, from time to time thev had moved the
senior officers out, later in 1942 and then in
September 1943 the main pertyr of officers were
moved to Kuching. The officers thet ther left were
two captains, a lieutenant, and three medical of=-
ficers and three padres.

¢ And what was the general condition of the

men who were left at Sandakan after the party moved

out to Ranau?

A There was 90% unfit. There was a few fit
personnel there on general camp duty.

¢ And with regerd to those men, were they
called for working pasrties?

A VYes, irrespective of their condition. If
they could welk they were sent out to work, forced
out to work.

¢ Ard wrat method was adopted if tre men were

P —— -
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too sick to go out?

A If thev couidn't get tre recuired number

tbey would rave a full parede of the personnel

left in camp and then a private Japanese soldier
would go along and inspect them. If a pricsoner had
his leg tied up he would probably kick it, to see
if the man was really sick, and a prisoner who had
been crippled, with a walking stick, his walking
stick was teken and he would po alorg the line and
belt then,

f And if a doctor objected to a man being
sent out, what would Yappen?

A The doctor would be subjected to a belting,
beating, from this Jananese soldier, for interfering.

0 How many deaths occurred in lMarch of 1945 at
tre camp?

A Approrimetely 231.

N ™gs there any fusion of the British camp
and the Australian camp later?

A Ves, late in April, owing to the reduced
number of prisoners, they were moved into a wired
off area in No., 1 camp with the Austrelians,

€ Now, coming to the 29tk of May, how many
men were in the camp, on the morning of the 29th
of May?
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A Around about 740. Trere nay have been a -
few more. '

¢ And did this comprise hospital cases as
well.as walking cases?

A Yes, the total prisonere of war,

Q And how meny of these were hospital cases?

\
A Trere weas over 400 hospitel cases, stretcher

cases alone. Some of them were on sticks, or bones
broken, but in such a state that trey had to be
helped along or earried. And of English trere was
over a hundred.

¢ Vhat rappened on the 29th of May, '45%

A At about 9:00 on the morning of the 29th of
May Ceptain TAKAKURA, sccompanled by Lieutenant
TATANABE and Steff Sergeant ICHIKA™A, who was the
CH, inspected tre camp. About.a guarter of an rour
after they left the cemp we observed the old camp
that was then unoccupied, No. 3 and No. 2 cemps,
being burned, destroyed by fire, and arouné about
our area, the cemp erees, ammunition dumps being ex-

ploded.
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Q What happened next?
A Round about half-past ten, Captain TAVYAKURA

s P

called for Captain Cook and {ssued the order that
we had to clear the camp within ten minutes. He
later extended the time to eleven o'clock, at which
time as sosn as we left the camp, the last man left
the camp——we carried the last man out of the camp,
and some gear was left behind«swe proceeded to burn
huts in No. 1 camp.

Q Well, now, coming to five o'clock that night,
what happened then?

A At five o'clock that night we heard that
there was required by the Japanese =-- every person
that could walk had to be ready, assembled on the
parade ground by six o'clock., We were then in an
area, the garden area, of No. 2 camp out in the open,
no protection for any of the sick whatsoever.

Police parties were eventually formed in
groups of fifty, and about half-past seven there
was three parties outside the gate. And along came a
party, armed rarty, of Japanese soldiers who were
halted in {:+-nt of the gate. They were agdressed by

Captain TAKAKURA, that they were to take un certain

positions, four in front of the flank, and so forth,

_around the party, and no prisoner was to be allowed to
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lag behiné or escape.

¢ Did the parties then move away?

A The parties tnen moved out along the road
for a short distance and then guards took un their
position, their marching positioni And while this was
going on the Japanese burned the rest of the buildings,
their own buildings, their own barracks, and we pro-
ceeded on through the night.

Q | And how many trobps were in these parties?

A For the first intention, there was to be--

A How many altogether?

A The total number left the .camp was 536.

¢ 536. Lid you see, at that time, what happened
to the remainder of the troops in the camp?

A Our position was along the road looking into
the camp. The guards were going through yhe sick
and trying to make them stand up, Yelting them, to
try to get more men ovt the gate, After we moved off,
1 have never seen any of those prisonérs left behind
alive,

¢ How was your varty of 536 broken up?

A They were in groups of fifty, approximately

fifty. One latter party, I think, was sixty-six.
@ “Were you in charge of any of those parties?

A I was in charge of No. 2 group.
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to the remainder of the troops in the camp?

A Our position was along the road looking into
the camp. The guards were going through the sick

and trying to make them stand up, belting them, to

try to get more men ovt the gate, After we moved off,
I ﬁave never seen any of those prisoners left behind
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A They were in groups of fifty, approximately

fifty. One latter party, I think, was sixty-six.
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A I was in charge of No. 2 group.
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Q And what was the state of health of that
party?

A All_eicept the seven others who were put

in the party aiong with nyself were all hospital
pbatients,

¢ Vell, now, when your party moved off, where
Tid it go?

A Ve procesded down through the agricultural
plot down to the main road and out to the l2-mile
peg == which was known as.the 12-mile peg -~ down to
the Sandakan Road.

Q [Lid the other parties move up there, too?

They followed on.

A
¢ What happened when you got to the 12-mile peg?
A

We were halted there and issued with -- each
arty, with two 100-pound bags of rice; each bag
Iontained a hundred pounds,
¢ Then what happened?

A We were given a pilece of paper and told to
pake a nominal roll at our next stop, and we moved off.
G When did you next stop?
A Ve stopped early in the morning, for about
wo hours.

G Was vour party of fifty complete then?

A No. There was about thirty-eight to forty in

i
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Q What had happened to the rest?

A They had Jjust croppea out, and I never seen
them again.

Q ULid you :r-w the state of any of the other
parties at that fime?

A Yes. No. 1 party was all hosvital cases
with the axcertin:. of the CC ~f =he narcy, Captain
Hislop,

Q Uic you inow then %re numeri-«. strsength
et the time of this first halt?

A Yes. At our first halt vhere we were issued
the rice, I nad already lost six men.

G Weil, now, your number of thirty-eignt %o
forty men, where did they -~ what haprened then?

A On that next morning we formed our nominal
roll of personnel in each party, and give account of

what we had then, and then we proceeded to march

throughout the day.

@ And when did you stop?

A Ne actually stopped about 1500 hours in the
afternoon. And after submitting a roll call we were
told at approximately 1700 hours that we would be
resting there for the night.

.Q Hhat food did you nave then?
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A Only the rice that we had been issued with
by the Japanese at the 12-mile.

Q Vell, for how long did this march continuej
how many cdays?

A Ve spent twenty-six days traveling from
Sandakan to Ranau.

¢ How many men did you have left in your party
at the conclusicn of that march?

A My party consisted of thirteea.

@ Do you know what happened to the remaining
thirty-sew n?

A At first we surmised that they were being
murdergd along the route., But since,I have done

Investigations and have had aamissions from Japanese

guards, soldiers, that these prisoners that dropped

out and lagged behind were murdered by them,
THE PRESIDENT: We will adjourn now until
half-past nine tomorrow morning,
(¥hereupon, at 1600, an adjourn-
ment was taken until Friday, 20 Lecember
1946, at 0930.)




